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Friday, September 9, 2005
‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:05 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the seventeenth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This morning we will begin the examination of the panel on IT and engineering operating and maintenance costs.


Are there any preliminary matters?


MR. STEVENS:  None from the company.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Would you like to introduce your panel?


MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  This panel is here for -- this is an operations and maintenance witness panel for information technology and engineering.  The members of the panel, starting closest to you, are George, who is the director of information technology; Tom Ladanyi, who is the manager of budgets and planning; Doug Lapp, chief operations and logistics engineer; Rob Fox, who is the chief engineer, engineering; and John Hodgens, who is manager, facility services for the company.  


I believe that only Mr. Ladanyi has been sworn.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 12

George DeWolf; Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn


Doug Lapp; Sworn


Rob Fox; Sworn


John Hodgens; Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  Would you like to begin your examination, Mr. Stevens?


EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  As I indicated, this panel is here for the O&M budgets for information technology, which is issue 9.1.5, and engineering, which is issue 9.7.  We put these two issues together hopefully so we can save time, and also because some of the witnesses for each panel may be able to speak to the budget and capitalization and policy issues for the other panel.


The primary witnesses for each are Mr. DeWolf for information technology, and Mr. Lapp, Mr. Fox and Mr. Hodgens for engineering.  And Mr. Ladanyi has involvement with budgeting and other issues for both panels.


With your permission, Madam Chair, I will start with issue 9.15, which is the budget for information technology.


Mr. DeWolf, could you please confirm that the evidence of the company that is filed at Exhibit A6, tab 8, schedule 1 was prepared by you, under your direction and supervision?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, it was.


MR. STEVENS:  And the responses to the interrogatories on this issue by the company, were they similarly prepared under your direction or supervision?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, they were.


MR. STEVENS:  And is the evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, it is.


MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt it for the purpose of your testimony today?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Ladanyi, the same question for you.  Do you adopt the evidence that the company has filed, both in its pre-filed and in response to interrogatories, as your evidence for this issue?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEVENS:  I just have a small number of questions by way of direct examination.


First, Mr. DeWolf, can you briefly describe the role of the IT department within Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. DEWOLF:  The information technology department provides support to applications and underlying infrastructure that is used by the company to provide services to our customers and provide reliable and safe delivery of gas, and to do that in as efficient a manner as possible.


We do that in four different areas, one which is application support, where we support over 100 applications that the company uses to run its business.  The users of those applications vary from employees of the company, external contractors, external business partners and even customers.


The technical services department manages and supports all of the technical infrastructure that supports those applications.  And those things that it does comprise of the maintenance of operating systems, local area and wide area networks, security, machine room maintenance, desktop, laptop mobile computer support and the wireless networks, as well.


The information technology services group provides support to the other groups in the areas of help desk, contract maintenance and compliance, project and O&M accounting, staff augmentation and regulatory compliance.


The fourth group, the solution delivery group, is a group that undertakes all of the IT projects for the company, and their total costs are attributable 100 percent to capital and, therefore, not part of the budget that we're talking about today.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Can you tell me what the IT department's O&M budget is for the fiscal 2006 year, and what are the basic assumptions underpinning that budget?


MR. DEWOLF:  The budget for 2006 is $27,384,000, and it represents an increase of $1,668,000 from our current fiscal 2005.  The main assumptions that we've taken in the budget are, first of all, that the company will continue to have the same level of IT support that they had in the past; that the company will continue to move towards lower-cost web-based architectures; that the majority of the mainframe applications will be moved off by October 1, 2005; the capital expenditures will be in the order of $31 million; and that the Field Vision project will go live in the first quarter of 2006.


MR. STEVENS:  And can you explain to me, or for us, what are the drivers for the variances in the budget estimate for 2006 as compared to 2005?


MR. DEWOLF:  Sure.  The main drivers for the increase is, first of all, in the salaries of about $848,000, which is driven by a 3.5 percent increase in wages, three additional full-time employees to support Enmar and Entrac applications, and to provide and enhance the capability and planning and service-level management, and also includes an additional $250,000 for employee severances.  


There is also an increase of approximately $279,000 for outside contract labour, which is made up mostly of EnVision and a special provision for assistance and improvements in our disaster recovery requirements.


There is a decrease of $460,000 in office and technology services, which are services we pay to external parties for maintenance and things like that, and that is driven by $1.5 million reduction in the cost of mainframe services.  And that is partially offset by inflation and additional maintenance costs of $362,000.


We have an increase in telecommunications of $283,000, which consists of a decrease of $605,000 due to the re-negotiation of some of our contracts and offset by $288,000 of inflation, maintenance fees and the introduction of approximately 100 BlackBerries to the network, as well as $600,000 in wireless network charges required for Field Vision.


There is a decrease in unidentified productivity gains of $1.3 million than in last year's that has come from savings attributable to moving off our legacy applications, and there is a reduction of $475,000 in costs charged by affiliates due to the adoption of the RCAM methodology, which is partially offset by inflationary costs of the financial system and increased financial system depreciation.


MR. STEVENS:  Now, as one of the things that you discussed is the driver, the variance.  You mentioned a decrease in unidentified productivity gains.  Can you explain what’s leading to this decrease. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  In previous years, when we've been working on the move away from legacy applications, when the rate cases were filed, it was impossible to know which technologies we would be moving off of, and what negotiations we could make with the various suppliers, software suppliers, hardware suppliers, as we started moving off of these technologies.  

     And so, instead of just saying, Well, we don't know, and therefore leave the numbers the same, we knew there would be reductions.  And so we introduced this concept of unidentified productivity gains, because we knew the ratepayer should enjoy those savings.  And so we didn't know where they were coming from, so we put those in.  

     Now that we're, sort of, approaching the end of that period of legacy transformation, those savings are fairly well known.  We know that there are certain mainframe costs, and we know when they're going to come off, and we know in which accounts they're going to happen.  And we know which telecommunications contracts we can now renegotiate, and we know when they're going to happen.  And so those savings are now in the accounts, as I’ve mentioned in my previous statement.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     And finally, in response to a question from the Board Panel on August 30th, the corporate cost allocation witnesses described the Khalix computer application.  I think the reference to that was Volume 12 of the transcript, at pages 146 to 148.  Do you have anything to add to the description of that application, beyond what was provided by Mr. Mees and Mr. Pienaar? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I do.  The Khalix application is important to Gas Distribution because it manages all of our budgets.  And for Gas Distribution, different than other companies that I have worked on, the budgeting process is very complex.  We have submitted budgets to the Board, we have approved budgets to the Board.  We have our corporate budget, and then we have various estimates that we need to be able to refer to from time to time, and that's what Khalix does for us.  It’s a significant part of what the Khalix application does, it processes this information.  

     The Board will notice that in the past year, since we've introduced the EFS system, which Khalix is a part of, that our ability to provide comparisons to budgets in our evidence and in interrogatories has improved greatly over our old application, and that's because of the Khalix application.  

     The second, and what I would refer to as the minor functionality within Khalix, is the simple consolidation of the results of the business units into a consolidated statement for the corporate enterprise.  But the major thing that it does is tracking all of those budgets, which are maintained by the management of Gas Distribution.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. DeWolf.  

     And now moving on to issue 9.7, which is the O&M budget for engineering.  Beginning with you, Mr. Lapp, can you please confirm that the evidence of the company that's pre-filed at Exhibit A6, tab 3, schedule 1, was prepared by you and/or under your direction and supervision.  

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. STEVENS:  And the responses to the interrogatories on this issue, were they similarly prepared under your direction or supervision? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, they were.  

     MR. STEVENS:  And is the evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt this evidence for the purpose of your testimony here today? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     And Mr. Fox, Mr. Hodgens and Mr. Ladanyi, the same question for you, in turn.  Do you each adopt the evidence that the company has pre-filed and has filed in response to interrogatories as your evidence for your testimony here today? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. FOX:  Yes.  

     MR. HODGENS:  Yes.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     I just have two questions by way of direct examination.  First, Mr. Lapp, can you briefly explain the role of the engineering department within Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. LAPP:  Yes.  The engineering department is responsible for supporting the company's operations through activities, and ensuring that the company is in compliance with applicable technical legislation.  This means the policies and procedures that have been developed to ensure a safe work environment for employees and a safe and reliable distribution system for customers and the public.  

     The engineering department is organized into seven categories, which are:  first of all, the engineering standards and technical services area; operations and logistics; system measurement; integrity management; facilities services; distribution planning; and, environment health and safety.  

     The mandate and activities of each of these groups are set out in pages 1 to 5 of our pre-filed evidence.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And can you, please, tell us what the engineering department's budget is for the fiscal 2006 year, and briefly explain the drivers of the variances between that budget and the budget estimate for fiscal 2005.  

     MR. LAPP:  Yes.  The budget for fiscal 2006 is 30,980,000.  This represents an increase of approximately $2,740,000 from our fiscal 2005 estimate.  The main variances between the fiscal 2006 budget and the 2005 estimate are an increase of approximately $979,000 in salaries and expenses.  And this is driven by the wage increase of 3.5 percent, in addition to two new positions in the group, as well as the impact of the full costs of employees during 2005 that may have been added part way through the year, and amounts for employee severances, similar to what Mr. DeWolf mentioned.  

     There is also a decrease of $580,000 in the materials and supplies budget, as the cost for odorant, which is injected into the gas to help identify that it is gas, that material has been transferred to outside services’ budget.     

     There is also an increase of approximately $2 million for outside services, and this is primarily driven by, as I mentioned earlier, the inclusion of odorant costs.  

There is increases in locates and our one-call -- the one-call program, Ontario one-call.  The addition of inspections for gate station inlet piping for our integrity management group, and that's where the connections with our systems to TransCanada Pipelines, as required by legislation, and also the costs associated with the relocation of the company's service centres in Barrie and Nepean in the eastern region.  

     Finally, an increase of approximately $340,000 in the budget for rents and leases, primarily caused by the costs of new leases for the company's relocation to new service centres in Barrie and Nepean.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     Madam Chair, that concludes our direct examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  

     Can the intervenors let me know who wants to question this panel, and how long and what order.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  First of all, Mr. Warren asked me to pass on his regrets.  He cannot be here today or Monday.  I will be -- as a result, my cross, I expect, will be longer than originally anticipated.  I would expect to be in or around an hour.  To a certain extent, I think, I’m in the panel's hands; the longer the answers, the longer I’ll be.  Mr. Warren has indicated that when he comes back on Tuesday, if we're sitting - but, I believe, it’s not till Thursday that we're sitting, after Monday - he’ll just take his spot in the cue where we are in the cross-examinations. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, as a result of Mr. Warren not being here, I probably have now 30 minutes instead of 20.  And I’ll follow Mr. DeRose and handle all the hard stuff. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd. 

     Mr. Dingwall? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm in the Blanche Dubois seat today, depending on the kindness of others.  I'm anticipating maybe 10 to 15, but probably not even that much.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. DeRose.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DEROSE:  

     MR. DEROSE:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I'm here on behalf of IGUA.  I believe I’ve met most of you off-line.  

     I’d like to start with the IT group.  I guess that’s Mr. DeWolf.  And let me start -- I have a number of small questions that don't relate into a theme, they're more technical questions on various components of your evidence.  And let me start by what have been referring to as interfaces relating to EnVision, Entrac and Enmar.  

     And just for the reference, some of these questions are arising out of Interrogatory from CCC 116, although, I can let you know, I don't think you're going to need to turn up the interrogatory to answer the questions.  

     First of all, as I understand it, there is $2.5 million in your capital budget that relates to what is defined as EnVision interfaces; is that correct? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And can you explain what an EnVision interface is. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  The EnVision application communicates with other applications within the Enbridge Gas Distribution suite of applications that are used.  And so, for instance, the Enmar application, which manages the meters, keeps track of when metres need to be inspected, when they need to be removed, what population needs to be taken out to comply with government regulations for Measurements Canada.


So that work and that information is transferred from the Enmar application up into the EnVision application so that somebody in the field will actually go out and do those inspections and remove those meters.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.


MR. DEWOLF:  And so as the EnVision application gets enhanced and new versions of it, which are all under the Accenture agreement, happen, we need to be able to spend time on those interfaces to either increase the information that's moving across because there's some added functionality we can take advantage of, or to test the existing things also work.  And so that is what that work entails.


MR. DEROSE:  And can you explain why this money would be included in your capital budget and not in what has been referred to as EnVision costs?


MR. STEVENS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I hesitate to start out in any sort of obstructionist way, but I know that Mr. DeWolf is going to be on an IT capital panel probably -- it's right now scheduled for next week, but coming up in the near future.  And I wonder whether these questions are best left till then.


MR. DEROSE:  If they would rather defer the question until then, I'm happy to save the question till then.  That's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


MR. DEROSE:  In that case, perhaps I ‑‑ I don't know whether this question is for Mr. DeWolf or to my friend.  I have some questions about the interface initiatives and whether there were business cases for them.  Is that something you would like dealt with today or in the capital budget component of it?


MR. STEVENS:  I think, to the extent that they're capital dollars, it makes sense to deal with all of the IT capital at the same time.


MR. DEROSE:  That's fine.  I'm happy to do that.  Okay.


If I can take you to your evidence, A6, tab 8, schedule 1, and I will start on page 1.  There's a reference there to the solutions delivery group, and you've indicated that the cost of this group is completely covered by the capital projects.  


Again, does that mean that there are no O&M dollars included in the budget for the solutions delivery group?


MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. DEROSE:  Can I take you to CCC Interrogatory No. 190?  This is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 190.


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I have it.


MR. DEROSE:  Now, first of all, there is reference to the Gartner Group.  Can you explain to the Board who the Gartner Group is?


MR. DEWOLF:  The Gartner Group is an independent organization that monitors the IT industry, keeps track of developments within that industry, surveys people who ‑‑ IT departments and various industry segments and makes generalized -- publishes generalized information about what people are doing in the IT industry, and also gives predictions as to where people are moving.  Because, as they see that people like us are moving toward web-based architectures, they come out and say that, you know, of the ten companies we talked to, six of them are moving towards web-based architectures, other ones are thinking about it, that kind of information.


MR. DEROSE:  I take it EGD follows what the Gartner Group is reporting?


MR. DEWOLF:  No, we don't.


MR. DEROSE:  So do you subscribe to any of their services?


MR. DEWOLF:  By default we do, because we used to be a subscriber to META Group, which is another one of these groups, and Gartner just bought META, so by default we are now.  But in the past, we have not subscribed to Gartner.


MR. DEROSE:  Have you examined any of Gartner's reports on IT spending and staffing?


MR. DEWOLF:  No, we haven't.


MR. DEROSE:  If you haven't reviewed their reports on IT spending and staffing, where did you get the information that the ‑‑ how the Gartner Group defines total IT budget?


MR. DEWOLF:  Because that was in the interrogatory.  The questioner gave us the Gartner definition, and then we just used that definition to come up with our numbers.


MR. DEROSE:  Do you subscribe to any services, other than the Gartner Group, that would be similar, that would address IT spending and staffing issues?


MR. DEWOLF:  We subscribe -- as I said, we have in the past subscribed to the META Group.  Our concentration is more on where the IT industry is going.  As we've been moving from our architect ‑‑ from our egacy architectures to the web-based architectures, it has been helpful to get insight as to what are the products, what are the applications that are on the upswing inside that realm, because it was a realm that we were not familiar with.  And so we were using the META Group in that way. 


We have not ‑‑ I'm not even aware whether the META Group had information on advertising spending or anything like that.  We don't use it in that way.


MR. DEROSE:  So you haven't gone to any outside service to, for instance, see if there is an industry standard with respect to the IT head count, the average IT head count in relation to the overall head count?


MR. DEWOLF:  No, we don't see that that type of activity is useful.  Our job is to provide services to the company that they want us to, and as long as the company -- and there's benefit to the ratepayer and to the delivery of gas, those are the services we provide.


Comparing our numbers with an average of a bunch of other people's numbers we're not sure is worthwhile.


MR. DEROSE:  So you haven't gone out to see if you're substantially higher or substantially lower than the average?


MR. DEWOLF:  No.  I would have thought Mr. Stevens would have done that in response to this question.


MR. DEROSE:  And in terms of ‑‑ do you also look at other utilities in -- looking at what other utilities spend on IT?


MR. DEWOLF:  We don't look at what they spend on IT.  We look at what they're doing.  I'm a member of the American Gas Association IT advisory council, and I meet with that group once a year and we talk about the kinds of things we're doing and the challenges we're having, which we believe is much more productive than trying to compare, especially when you're in the American Gas Association, the difference in salaries between here and there and the costs of doing projects or any of those kinds of things.  It's much more beneficial to understand the problems they're having and how they're dealing with those, which may be helpful to us.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  So if I understand it, you look at what they're doing, not what the costs are and not whether it is ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  No.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay, that's fine.  There's been a lot of testimony about the fact that you're slowly phasing ‑‑ not slowly.  You're phasing out 33 of your legacy systems.  You referred to it as the legacy architecture.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. DEROSE:  Can you explain why, as the legacy architecture is being phased out and being replaced with, in large part, EnVision, we aren't seeing a reduction in head count in your department?


MR. DEWOLF:  You have seen a reduction in head count in my department, in that in the 2004 time frame there was ‑‑ I just want ‑‑ if you will excuse me while I check my notes here so I can get this number correctly.


We reduced our head count in IT in 2004 by 22 people, and in that same year there was an increase of ten because of Entrac being a new application that came in.  So due to the outsourcing of the help desk and the removal of EnVision, there was a total of 22 people removed from the department.


MR. DEROSE:  Now as the legacy architecture is completely phased out, would you expect to see your head count continue to reduce? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No, I wouldn't see the reduction in head count.  I see the reduction more in the maintenance fees that we would be paying on the old technologies, not in the head count, because we still need people to support it.  And especially, as we're finding in some applications where we had old applications that were very costly to run, because they weren't being changed very much by the users, and the users were very familiar with them, we didn't need a heck of a lot of support for them, because they had been running for years.  

     Now we have new applications which, sadly to say, is the truth in the industry -- when you introduce a new application there are more bugs in it, and it actually needs more support than the old application did.  So we're wrestling with the -- trying to keep the head count down to what it was before, rather than seeing it rise.

     MR. DEROSE:  So do I understand what you're saying is that, as the legacy architecture is phased out and EnVision comes fully on-line and replaces the legacy architecture completely, that, in fact, that will result in your department increasing? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No, because EnVision is a place where we’ve outsourced the whole application to others.  And so in 2004, we took all of the people who were supporting the legacy applications and they went on to the EnVision project, so that we would take their knowledge of the information, because all of the data that was in the old application had to be migrated into the new application.  And so we took them out of O&M, we put them into capital; we took them out of our O&M salaries in our 2004 budget.  We took all those so that the ratepayer would get the savings of that change.  

     And so they're gone, and they're not going to come back, because the Accenture company is going to provide that maintenance and that support.  

     MR. DEROSE:  So all the reductions resulting from the end of your legacy architecture have come.  We won't see any more reductions, as a result of that? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I wouldn't say never; I never say never.  We will see, depending on what things happen.  If we outsource another application, then we will see reductions.  If we don't, then the staff will be there.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  I'll move on.  

     If I can take you back to your evidence in A6, tab 8, schedule 1, page 211.  

     In table 1, there's a reference there to “outside contract labour.”  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Is that -- who is the outside contract labour? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Outside contract labour are organizations that we turn to through the year to provide us with assistance on various different things.  Most of that expenditure is in the desktop support area where we do not have desktop people within the company.  We find it more economical as we need a desktop person in Barrie to fix somebody's laptop, to contact a person there, and have that person go fix that laptop.  And so that's the one area where we -- and the largest area where we use outside labour.  

     The other place where we use it is in the application support area, where there is a project going on in the capital side and that project would like to have some of the support people on the project so that they will have a better understanding of some of the workings of that application.  And in the case where we want to take those support people out of the support area and put them on the project near the end of it, so that when the project comes live the support group is able better to provide the support to those new changes that have come in due to the project.  

     In those cases, we backfill that support person, and that's where it comes into play here. 

     MR. DEROSE:   Okay. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  We go and get outside resources to provide that support, while the support person is on the project. 

     MR. DEROSE:  When you refer to projects, you aren't referring to EnVision? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  

     MR. DEROSE:   And so none of this -- this outside contract labour wouldn't be Accenture? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No. 

     MR. DEROSE:   Okay.

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  We have four staff augmentation firms and it's not -- none of them are Accenture.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay, thank you.  

     If I could have you turn to page 3, your evidence.  Paragraph 12, you include “travel and entertainment.”  What kind of travel and entertainment does the IT department do? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Travel, we have offices in Thorold, Ottawa, Barrie, et cetera.  And so therefore, when there are enhancements or roll-outs of new technology - Lotus changes, desktop replacements, those kind of things - our staff needs to travel to those places, and we compensate for them.  

     Also, we run a 24 by 7 operation, but it is not manned after hours.  And so when there are problems with the technology in the night, our employees come in and respond to those problems.  And we charge -- pay for their mileage for when they do that.  

     The other part of it is many times the courses that we send our people on are not available in Canada, they're only available in the United States.  And so, unfortunately, from time to time, we have to send our people to courses away, and that's covered off in that budget.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Well, you described travel and you described education, what about entertainment?  Or are you including that as --

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  That is part of the -- when they go out, and -- one of the other things that I believe in is that vendors should not be 100 percent.  You know, when they come in and talk to us about products and stuff that they would like to show us, that they shouldn't pay for the meals all the time, because I think that puts a bias on things.  So, from time to time, we pay for those meals instead.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Sometimes when vendors are coming in trying to sell you a service or a product and explain to you why they should be your service provider, you take them out for dinner? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  If it is a long protracted thing and we believe that it may -- because of the fact this has been going on for some period of time, we might pay for a meal here and there. 

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And how much of your budget are we talking about for this?   It’s not a lot, is it?

     MR. DEWOLF:  It’s not.  The total “other” area is $750,000. 

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  

     If I can have you turn to page 5 of your evidence.  You referred to an unidentified productivity gain in the amount of $1.27 million, and you addressed that, in part, in your examination-in-chief.  

     Could you explain how that's been treated in your budget?  Has that actually been reduced? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Well, as I said in the examination-in-chief, those unidentified areas are now identifiable.  So for instance, the 1.5 million reduction in mainframe costs that will be achieved in 2006 are inside the office and technology services area.  The $600,000-plus of telecommunications are identifiable and they're in that bucket.  And when you add those two numbers up, alone, that is $2.1 million.  

     And so the productivity gains out of this year are in that $2 million range, but instead of being unidentified, they're actually in the line items above.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And does that mean that you’re -- that the budget that you're seeking -- has your budget been reduced because of that? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, there have been reductions, and then there have been increases, which I have alluded to both in my evidence and in my examination-in-chief.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And I'm sorry, perhaps I missed it in your examination-in-chief, but is that $2.1 million, is that -- is the budget that you're seeking in this case now being reduced by $2.1 million? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  It has been reduced by that amount, and then there have been increases in excess of the 2.1, which has driven to a total increase of 1.6 over.  So there's been an increase -- I have to get a calculator out, but somewhere in the order of $3.6 million in increases.  


MR. DEROSE:  If I could have you turn to page 8, and I think we're talking about the same thing here.  This is paragraphs 28 to 30.  You're talking about the mainframe savings and the telecommunications savings.  That's what we've just talked about; correct?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  Do those savings -- are those included anywhere in the table, table number 2, which is on page 5?  This is where you show your variance between 2005 budget and 2004 estimate.


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, they are in there.  So for instance the office and technology services, you see that the difference is $460,000, which takes into account the reduction in mainframe usage, and then offset partially by inflation, increases to software, maintenance.  That would have partially offset that amount.


MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  The final question on IT -- and I think, panel, I will be quite up front.  I think I am leading with my chin on this one, but as someone that isn't always familiar with everything IT, I can't help but ask the question.


The amount that you're paying -- that you're outsourcing for, for instance, EnVision, is increasing, and as a relatively ‑‑ to me, I would expect as you pay more and more for outsourced services and you outsource more of your work, that your department would have a correlating reduction, maybe not a one to one, but that we would see your department actually reduce in costs, not increase.  But what we're seeing is that as your outsource costs increase, so do your department costs.  Can you explain why that is?


MR. DEWOLF:  Because we took the savings and gave the savings to the ratepayer as soon as we could.  So in 2004, there was a dramatic reduction in the IT costs.  In 2003 and 2004, as we identified those reductions, we took them at the beginning of the project.  And the ratepayer has been able to get the benefit of those through those two years, and they continue on.  


So those savings continue on, and they were achieved and they're still enjoying those savings this year.  It is just that as the company undertakes new projects, which are approved by the Board, that there are added costs in supporting those new applications, Entrac being one of those.


MR. DEROSE:  And, sorry, the additional costs in supporting those -- I take it that the costs for supporting those projects you've referred to, Entrac and EnVision, those are costs that are not included in the EnVision component of the costs.  Those are ‑‑ you bear those?


MR. DEWOLF:  I have no costs for EnVision other than the maintenance of the interfaces that talk to it.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.


MR. DEWOLF:  And the telecommunications part of the Field Vision project, which is also contributing to the increases here.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay, thank you.  

I'm now going to shift gears a little bit.  I would like to turn to the budgets.  I suspect Mr. Ladanyi can probably answer some of these, and that may be why he is here.


If I can have you bring up Exhibit K6.4, what I would propose to do, I will start with IT, but I will take both IT and engineering through at the same time.


I am hoping that we can just confirm that my understanding of the numbers is correct.  Do you have K6.4 there, panel?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we do.


MR. DEROSE:  If I can start with the IT, which is item number 13.  As I understand it, in column 9, the Board-approved settlement number was $24.6 million; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  Excluding corporate cost allocation.


MR. DEROSE:  Excluding corporate cost allocation.  The corporate cost allocation in 2005 that was agreed upon and approved was 1.7.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  And that is in column 8.


MR. DEROSE:  And the numbers for 2006 which are in column 12, excluding corporate costs, is $26 million?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. DEROSE:  So that shows about a $1.4 million increase?


MR. LADANYI:  Right, and that is shown in column 14.


MR. DEROSE:  And subject to check, you would agree that is an increase of about 5.6, 5.7 percent?  I think it is 5.69.


MR. LADANYI:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  Then with respect to engineering, that's item number 2.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.


MR. DEROSE:  And, again, column 9 shows, for the Board‑approved ADR settlement, 28 million.


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. DEROSE:  And for 2006, 31 million.  That's for 2006?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. DEROSE:  For an increase of 3 million?


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. DEROSE:  Which is, again subject to check, a percentage increase of about 10.7 percent?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  And those reasons are explained in the evidence.


MR. DEROSE:  Yes.  I think you have gone through it twice, Mr. Ladanyi.  I won't ask you to do it again today.


Now, for IT, I would like to talk to Mr. DeWolf about the budget process.  I take it that you were involved with the budget development.


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.


MR. DEROSE:  And we've heard previously the budget process described by panels as a bottom‑up process.  Would you agree with that?


MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. DEROSE:  And I take it that your department, internally, looked at its numbers and developed its own budget?


MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. DEROSE:  And did that budget then -- was then transferred to the executive management team?


MR. DEWOLF:  It was.


MR. DEROSE:  And who was your contact?  Who was your EMT contact?


MR. DEWOLF:  Mr. Player.


MR. DEROSE:  And to what extent ‑‑ first of all, do you recall what the initial budget that you developed, without EMT involvement, was?


MR. DEWOLF:  I do not recall.


MR. DEROSE:  Is that something that you would be able to look at your records and ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  I would think so, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  Would I be able to get an undertaking to that effect?


What I am looking for, to be specific, is the initial budget developed by the IT department that was -- was the first number sent to the EMT leader or the EMT group.


MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. DeRose, maybe I can help you a little bit here so that we don't do a lot of extra undertakings, and so on.  For example, if you turn to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25, which is the December 17th budget presentation to the EMT, these would be budget ‑‑


MR. DEROSE:  Just one moment, Mr. Ladanyi.  You're going faster than I am.


MR. LADANYI:  Please.


MR. DEROSE:  I-5, I'm sorry, schedule...


MR. LADANYI:  Schedule 25.


MR. DEROSE:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  And you look at the attachments, okay, and one of the attachments is the budget.  And if you turn to page 12 ‑‑ it's hard to ‑‑ page 23 of 37.  It's actually in the bottom right-hand corner, the page numbers.  You will see expenses by department.  I will give you some time to find that page.


MR. DEROSE:  I have it.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  You will see, for example, for the 2006 budget that was presented in December by information technology, it was $27,614,000, and the number is essentially identical to what was filed in the rate case.  So there was no significant ‑‑ there is a small change I see here.  This number is slightly larger than what was filed in the rate case, but beyond that it is ‑‑ that is what Mr. DeWolf would have presented to his EMT member.


MR. DEROSE:  So this page that shows expenses by department, the budget shown here, these are the initial budgets sent to EMT, not the budgets that arise out of various discussions between EMT and the departments?


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. DeWolf might have had some discussions prior to that, but ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  I report to Mr. Player, so there would have been discussions between myself and Mr. Player previous to that, where in other departments where the EMT member is the head of the department, that wouldn't be the case and so --

     MR. DEROSE:  I'm not trying to create extra work for you, Mr. DeWolf.  If the undertaking isn't necessary, then we don't need it. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I leave that to you. 

     MR. DEROSE:  I asked similar questions to the panel yesterday, and I wasn't pointed to this page. 

     I guess my question about -- and perhaps Mr. Ladanyi -- the expenses by department, are you able to confirm that the expenses, as listed in this page, those are the initial budgets developed within each department, from the bottom-up perspective, without any changes, whether they're reductions or whether they're increases, resulting from discussions between the EMT and the departments? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I can't say that for every department.  In general terms, what would have happened is that individual departments might have met with their EMT member, and prior to submitting their numbers to the budget department they might have made some changes.  Whether these were formal meetings or whether these were informal, I can't say.  It really depends, it happened at the department level.  The total dollars were then sent to the budget department and became part of this presentation.  

     And the entire EMT assembled for that day, which was, I think, December 17th, and they then looked at these numbers and discussed them at that time.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Perhaps we could do this, if Mr. DeWolf -- we have the number here from this exhibit.  Would you be able to just simply go back, check your notes, and if it turns out that the initial budget which you prepared is different than the number as set out in this attachment, could you advise the Board? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I could.  

     MR. DEROSE:   And if you like, we can even assume that -- I'm happy Madam Chair, that if Mr. DeWolf does not advise by the end of the hearing, we can assume that the number is correct.  I don't know whether you want him to confirm it or not.  I'm in your hands.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  I think I would confirm it.  

     MR. STEVENS:  If I could just seek some clarification.  We're having a little bit of trouble over what’s meant by “initial budget”, in the sense that there may be times that there are numbers derived in a more formal way at one point than others.  

     Are you looking for the first time there’s a line-by-line?  

     MR. DEROSE:  Well, as I understand it -- Mr. DeWolf, perhaps you could provide some clarity.  As I understand it, Mr. DeWolf's department -- the line managers would each look at their budgets. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right. 

     MR. DEROSE:  They would develop their own internal budget.  They would give it to Mr. DeWolf.  Mr. DeWolf would then take those numbers, look at them, and if they appear to him to be reasonable he would put them into an overall department budget which would then, at that point, be discussed with Mr. Player.  Is that correct? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That’s correct.  And when those numbers came forward to me I would challenge my managers on -- you know, if they came forward with a $500,000 reduction in telecommunication costs and I thought they were going to get more than that out of the negotiations, I would press them on that and say, Why aren't you putting it all in?  Those kinds of things. 

     MR. DEROSE:  And that's the budget that -- we're interested simply to see whether that budget was increased or decreased subsequently, once discussions between Mr. DeWolf and EMT began. 

     MR. STEVENS:  So you're looking for the time when Mr. DeWolf has collected all of this information and come up with a number in conjunction with the line managers, as you described. 

     MR. DEROSE:  Correct. 

     MR. LADANYI:  You're saying this -- prior to December 17th? 

     MR. DEROSE:  Well, I don't know when Mr. DeWolf would have done this.  

     MR. STEVENS:  It would have to be prior to December 17th, for comparison to the exhibit we're looking at, though. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I explained a bit of the mechanics of this, but just for people to understand, is -- individual managers, or somebody on their staff, would go to the Khalix system and they would enter the budget elements in the Khalix system, initially.  So that's how it would work.  And this would all roll up into a Khalix total that Mr. DeWolf would get out of the Khalix system.  And he might have seen totals at different times; he might not have had, like, a report or anything.  He would have opened the computer, and it would be on the screen.  That's what it would look like.

     MR. DEROSE:  Mr. DeWolf seems to keep saying he can do this, and he knows what I’m talking about.  Mr. DeWolf, is there a point in time when you understand what I'm talking about, that before you talked to EMT you had a budget? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, and I will endeavour to get that for you.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.

     MS. NOWINA:  So do we have that as an undertaking, either confirmation that the number is the same as we're seeing in this schedule or the budget as it was then?  

     MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J17.1.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.1:  TO COMPARE THE INITIAL 

DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET FIGURES TO THE BUDGET FIGURES 

SHOWN IN EXHIBIT I, TAB 5 FOR THE IT DEPARTMENT AND 

CONFIRM THAT THEY ARE THE SAME. 
     MR. DEROSE:  And to save time, if I could turn to the engineering panel, right now.  

     You've just heard the discussion we've had.  Was your budgeting process done in a similar manner? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes.  The budgeting process would have been very similar.  Slightly different -- well, again I report to the vice president of engineering, Mr. Beaumont.  And although George -- or, Mr. DeWolf's budget is shown as a separate line item, the engineering department is a number of subsections, as I described earlier, that roll up into the overall engineering budget.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.

     MR. LAPP:  But it would have been a similar -- a very similar process.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And are you able to give -- to do the same thing that Mr. DeWolf has just agreed to do? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes.  We will do that.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  

     I don't know whether you want that as part of the same undertaking or a second undertaking.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's have it as a second, because we had the one yesterday as a separate one, as well.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be J17.2.     

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.2:  TO COMPARE THE INITIAL 

DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET FIGURES TO THE BUDGET FIGURES 

SHOWN IN EXHIBIT I, TAB 5 FOR THE ENGINEERING

DEPARTMENT AND CONFIRM THAT THEY ARE THE SAME. 
     MR. DEROSE:  Thank you, panel.  

     Mr. DeWolf, when you were preparing your budget, were you aware that EGD had publicly indicated that it was looking to transition from a cost-of-service to an incentive regulation approach sometime in 2007 or later? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I know the strategic plan of the company has always said they would prefer to move to a PBR-type of regulation.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  But I was unaware of any big push on that.  It's always been, sort of, one of the things we always wanted to move to.  

     MR. DEROSE:   Okay.  And were any of your budget decisions in the IT department, in part or in whole, based on moving towards an incentive regulation? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And if I can ask the same question to engineering:  Were you aware that the company's strategic plan was to move towards incentive regulation? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, we were aware that we are moving in that direction.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And when you were preparing your budgets, were any of your budget decisions, in part or in whole, made with an eye to moving towards incentive regulation? 

     MR. LAPP:  No, they were not.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Panel, if I could have you go to -- it's an interrogatory from CCC.  It's Interrogatory No. 23.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Mr. DeWolf, I will start with you.  You’ll see this is a schedule which shows the Board-approved budgets versus the actual O&M costs for information technology, at line 13.  And that's for the years 2000 through to 2006.   

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.   

     MR. DEROSE:   And you’ve already referred to, in part, 2004, and you referred to the reductions in 2002.  Just looking at those numbers, I take it you would agree with me that, for the years 2000 through to 2003, the company was able to reduce their actual O&M costs in relation to the Board-approved O&M costs.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  

     MR. DEROSE:  You were successful in doing that? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And during that period, would you agree that, as a department, you were given direction and a considerable degree of discretion to try and reduce your costs in those areas? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct, in that, if we can permanently reduce costs in one year, that moves over into the next year, which has benefit to the ratepayers.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Mr. DeRose, maybe I should point out -- so this is the period you're talking about, is the target performance base regulation period, PBR.  And the budgets, as such, which are listed in the Board-approved column were not, in essence, a grass-roots budget approved by the Board.  What they were was they were really the base year budget, escalated by the customer growth, plus inflation, minus productivity.  That's what they were.  

     So there was a number that started in the base year, the base year was 1999, and they were escalated from 1999 on.  So that's what you see in the first column.  They don't actually relate to -- they're not costs related to a particular year.


So to use them for comparison is not entirely fair, although -- I mean, they're shown here that way, but I should caution you that they don't mean the same thing as budgets that are in 2003 and thereafter.


MR. DEROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  I think we all remember what PBR was like and the way that budgets were developed.


Mr. DeWolf, you said you were given direction and you had discretion to try and reduce your costs as much as possible during PBR; correct?


MR. DEWOLF:  The IT department, or a large part of PBR had been outsourced to Enbridge Commercial Services.


MR. DEROSE:  Correct.  Currently, do you have those same directions?  Are you given directions from management to try and reduce your costs as much as possible?


MR. DEWOLF:  I'm not given direction by management to reduce my costs as much as possible.  I am always looking for ways to reduce my costs, because if I renegotiate a contract, if I can get better maintenance terms on the purchase of the software licence, then that is ongoing benefit to the ratepayer.


And my job is to try to, as much as possible, reduce the costs of my department, because not to do so would not be in the best interests of the ratepayer.


MR. DEROSE:  And in your experience, does the ‑‑ is the IT department making attempts to reduce its costs as aggressively now as it did during PBR?


MR. DEWOLF:  Absolutely.


MR. DEROSE:  So, Mr. DeWolf, does that mean that the incentive provided by PBR really isn't an incentive?  You're trying to reduce your costs as aggressively now as you would during PBR?


MR. DEWOLF:  I would say that that would be true, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  Mr. DeWolf, as you may be aware, there is -- an issue in this hearing is the overall capital budget of the company.  If there is a reduction in the capital budget and part of that reduction were related to IT, would there be a corresponding reduction in your O&M?


MR. DEWOLF:  There would be changes inside the O&M, but how much of a reduction, I'm not sure whether there would be a reduction or an increase.


What would happen ‑‑ if I can refer you to my evidence on page 5, so that's Exhibit A6, tab 8, schedule 1, page 5, there is a line item "costs charged to capital".  Is everybody there?


That is a number that when we -- as I mentioned previously, we have O&M people who, from time to time, work on capital projects, and so that line represents the recovery of that cost, and to a certain degree there is an offset inside the outside contractor labour where we go and get external people to come in and do that support.


And so what I can say for sure is that the total charge to capital would decrease, which would be have an increase in our O&M, because it is a negative number, but we would have some sort of offsetting amount on the outside contractor labour, because we wouldn't have backfilled that person.


MR. DEROSE:  Correct, okay.


MR. DEWOLF:  And so there would be some ‑‑ and what that would net out to, I would not be able to say at this time.


MR. DEROSE:  That's a fair answer; because at this point you don't know what capital costs would be reduced.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's right.


MR. DEROSE:  So depending on what capital costs are reduced and the extent of those capital costs, is it fair to say there may or may not be?


MR. DEWOLF:  There may or may not be, depending on which project was not done.  If all of a sudden we didn't buy more equipment, then it would have very little costs on the O&M that year.  It would apply into O&M costs in the future years, in that we would now have to pay maintenance in future years on this piece of equipment that we were now going to have normally replaced.


So in future years, the capital might -- a decrease in capital this year might drive higher O&M costs in future years.

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  If I can turn to engineering, a similar question, again.  The capital costs related to engineering are quite significant in this case, and that's an area that, again, may be reduced.  If the capital costs relating to engineering were not reduced minimally, but if there was a substantial reduction in capital costs for 2006, would your O&M reduce, be reduced?


MR. LAPP:  No, because they aren't really related.


MR. DEROSE:  So there is no relation between your O&M costs, your engineering O&M costs, and your engineering capital costs?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LAPP:  No.  Again, engineering has a number of different groups, so I had to confer with my colleagues here.  But, no, they are not related, generally.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Again, for engineering, if I could have you just pull up CCC Interrogatory 23.


MR. LAPP:  Okay.


MR. DEROSE:  Again, engineering is in line 2.  During the PBR period, we see reductions annually; you would agree?


MR. LAPP:  PBR period, being which years?


MR. DEROSE:  Mr. Ladanyi, what years would you like to define as PBR?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, PBR was 2000, 2001 and 2002.  Again, I want to say what is listed there as the Board-approved budget is actually a formula-developed amount, and the spending was lower than the formula-developed amount.  That's all it really means.


MR. DEROSE:  We understand that.  And, for instance, panel, in 2002 the Board-approved was 30.3 and the actual was 24, for a difference of 6.3 percent ‑‑ 6.3 million; correct?


MR. LAPP:  Yes, that's what the numbers say.


MR. DEROSE:  And, again, similar question that I had for IT:  I take it that as a department you would have been given a direction to try and reduce your costs as much as possible during PBR.  That's the incentive; correct?


MR. LAPP:  Well, the engineering department, like others, are trying to be efficient, operationally efficient.  We're always striving to be more efficient in the way we operate our business.


MR. DEROSE:  And so did you try to reduce your costs more aggressively during PBR than you do now?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LADANYI:  One of the difficulties we have is none of these gentlemen were in the department at the time.  Maybe I could give you a general answer here again.  I think you have to keep in mind that the formula took into account customer growth, and there were some departments whose costs did not increase in the linear fashion with customer growth.  Engineering would have been one of those.


So the formula would have increased engineering's budget in relation to customer growth, but their own expenditures were not increasing by customer growth.  So it is not surprising, therefore, they would have spent less than the formula-produced number, and similar with IT.  IT also was not increasing linearly with customer growth.  There are some other items on that schedule which are directly related to customer growth, and they would have been closer to that number.


So to look at it on that basis is really somewhat of an unfair comparison.


MR. DEROSE:  Well, Mr. DeWolf had indicated that he's been given direction to attempt to reduce his costs as much as possible, both during PBR and now.  I'm simply wondering whether engineering is in the same boat.


MR. STEVENS:  I think to be fair, Mr. Ladanyi indicated that these gentlemen weren't in positions within the engineering group where those instructions would have come to them during that period of 2000, 2001 and 2002.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  That's fair.  
Panel, can you tell me right now, are you given directions from management to try and reduce your costs as much as possible?  

     MR. LAPP:  Similar to what I said earlier, we're always trying to improve efficiency of the operation.  So that's a continual objective of this department.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  I would just like to correct one of the things that you just summarized what I had previously said.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Yes.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  And I did say that during the PBR period there was pressure by management to reduce costs.  Okay.  I then said that since PBR there has been less pressure by management, but our department continues to try to reduce costs.  So that is what I had said previously.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  And it's -- there is a difference between the two.  The department still goes, but I think there is a difference in pressure by management. 

     MR. DEROSE:  So if I understand this correctly, you're saying now, you continue as a department manager and a department to attempt to reduce your O&M costs as much as possible, but that is an interdepartmental initiative and not something that is being directed from your management.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  All I'm saying is that there is a difference between the emphasis that management put on it during the PBR period and what is on it now.   

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  And so…
     MR. DEROSE:  Fair enough, Mr. DeWolf and I appreciate that.  
Madam Chair, I think that brings me to my hour, and the panel cooperated with me and I was able to get it done.  So those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 
Mr. Shepherd, We do need to break at 10:30, so if you want to begin and take us that far, and then if you need to continue after the break, we can do that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I will try to do so.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me start with you, Mr. DeWolf because you're on a roll here.  

     I wonder if you could turn up your prefiled A6, Tab 8, schedule 1 first.    

     I'm looking at page 5, which is your budget for 2006 compared to 2005 estimates.  My first question is related to that number 7,086,000 for costs charged by affiliates.  That's not your share of corporate cost allocation, right, that is something else more than that?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Did I miss it?  What else is in there?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  If I can turn you to -- there is an interrogatory where this is defined.  I'm just trying to find out --
      MR. STEVENS:  I believe, if I can be of assistance, you're looking for CCC 186.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  CCC 186.  Yes, that's the one I was looking for.  I thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  So in that first table we have the corporate allocations of 1.9, the costs for EFS, the financial system support of 2 million, and 3.1 million dollars for depreciation of the EFS system.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So help me out here.  I'm looking at Exhibit K6.4.  Can you turn that up, please?  Don't lose your pre-files; we'll get back to those in a second.  
     MR. DEWOLF:  I have it tabbed, so...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that Mr. DeWolf. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you look at line 13, which is the information technology budget year by year.  Do you see that?
     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at column 12.  That is your -- $26 million is your budget, excluding corporate cost allocation.  Do you see that?
     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It shows your corporate cost allocation at 1.4 million.  Column 11. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's fair.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see that?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you have this interrogatory which says your corporate cost allocation is $1.9 million.  The one you just quoted. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the difference? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I will have to try to find out what the difference is between those two numbers. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we get an undertaking for you to try to reconcile those two? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J17.3.  

     UNDERTAKING NO. J17.3:  To reconcile the corporate 

cost allocation figures shown in Exhibit K6.4 and Pre-

filed Exhibit CCC 186.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then before we leave this interrogatory response, these two amounts paid to ECS, they're not included in your corporate cost allocation number, are they?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Just a moment. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Just to save one of the -- is this filed anywhere?  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. DEWOLF:  It's in Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 92, which would be VECC interrogatory number 92.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I, 25, 92, tells us what?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  So at the bottom of the page, you will see the information technology numbers that add up to the 1.4.  If you notice, the last line on that set of charges is a $405,000 charge as an EFS direct charge -- credit.  Okay.  And in my number, that number is over in the EFS numbers and not in the corporate allocation, because I -- my accounting for that is that that's a credit on EFS and the support charges that are there.  So that's the difference between those two numbers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  First of all, 1.9 minus 0.4 doesn't equal 1.4, but that's small potatoes.  Where is the 400?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  The $405,000, if you look at the last line - 

     MR. LADANYI:  Maybe we should give you some time to look at the interrogatory, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I will get it out.  Just a second.  

     MR. LADANYI:  There's an attached table to the interrogatory.  On the first page, at the bottom, are the information technology corporate allocations.  They're all spelled out there.  They total 1.4 million, but the $405,000 direct charge is shown as a credit there, and that explains the difference between those two numbers.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Most of it anyway. 

     MR. LADANYI:  There is probably a rounding effect as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just getting it up.  Just give me a second.  

     Technology is wonderful, but sometimes slower than we'd like.  

     All right.  So the net is 1,422, and that's -- so if we add up all of these other things, 313, 198, 179 and 310, we're not going to get 1,932,000, but the difference is only like a hundred thousand dollars; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not a rounding error, because obviously we're going to four digits anyway.  There must be something else in there; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I'd have to go -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not listed.
     MR. DEWOLF:  If you would like me to explain the 

100,000 -- 

     MR. LADANYI:  It’s actually more like 60,000 we’re searching for now, but if you would like, we'll do a search for the missing 60,000. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It’s actually, Mr. Ladanyi, unless my math is wrong, it's 105,000.  

     MR. LADANYI:  All right. 
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You can correct me.  

     But my question is this:   That $405,000, where is it in your budget in your pre-file?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  It would be in that line, but it would be -- going back to CCC 189, I think it was, so it's still in that same line item.  But it's just that in my interrogatory it's been ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, Mr. DeWolf, this doesn't balance.  You have $7,086,000 in your interrogatory response.  You have got that item on page 5 of your pre-files, right, that amount, exactly?


I don't see a $405,000 credit anywhere.


MR. DEWOLF:  The $405,000 credit is in that line item called EFS support, because that is a credit that we get because we spend more on EFS support than the others.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Take a look at table 2 on page 5 ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, I didn't hear the last part of that answer, Mr. DeWolf.  You spend more on ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  On EFS support directly, because we pay the maintenance fees, we house the application here, and so we run the machine room and all the rest of it.  When the allocation study was done it identified that we were paying more in those direct costs and we should get recovery from the other business units, and that is what that 405 is, and ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just didn't hear your actual words, I'm sorry.


MR. DEWOLF:  And that number has been included in and subtracted from the EFS support number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm just looking now at table 2 on page 5 of your pre-file.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  A6, tab 8, schedule 1.  I don't see a $405,000 number, so tell us what line it is in.  I don't see the credit anywhere.


MR. DEWOLF:  We have a total of -- charged by affiliates in my pre-file of 7,086,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.


MR. DEWOLF:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that doesn't have a credit in it for $405,000.


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, it does.  It does.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Then go back to ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  The credit is in there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hang on, hang on.  Go back to 186.


MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  So I go back to 186.  I have the 1.9.  That does not have the credit in it.  I have the ECS, EFS support maintenance costs of 2 million which, without the credit, would be 2.4 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So that 2,017,000 is actually 2,422,000?


MR. DEWOLF:  If you take that EFS support credit that we are entitled to and call it an allocation rather than EFS support credit, because we're providing EFS support and we're getting a credit from the other business units for that support.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't realize it was that simple.


All right.  Then the other thing is you've got these additional costs of about 5.5 million dollars, the EFS support maintenance and the EFS depreciation.


Now, they don't show in your evidence as part of your corporate cost allocations, but they actually are part of that ‑‑ they actually are allocations from another -‑ from an affiliate, aren't they?


MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct, and that's why they're under costs charged by affiliates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What's the basis --


MR. DEWOLF:  Because depreciation doesn't come from Enbridge Inc., it comes from Enbridge Commercial Services, who is the entity that holds the project and has the depreciation in it, and it gets charged to us as O&M.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the basis on which it is charged to you?


MR. DEWOLF:  It's based through the RCAM methodology, and so by ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't see that.


MR. DEWOLF:  Inside the RCAM methodology there is a whole section on that piece.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  Well, okay.  So I'm going back to 6.4, then, K6.4.  It has column 11, which is the corporate cost allocations, totalling 21.3 million.


That's the RCAM; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  Pardon?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the RCAM numbers, 21.3 million for the company; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see that 5.5 million in there anywhere.


MR. DEWOLF:  Because those are the corporate allocations in and don't include the allocations out from ECS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not part of RCAM?


MR. DEWOLF:  The RCAM study went and looked at what was being charged and came up and said ‑‑ and, as I said, that there was this other $405,000 charge.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about the 405,000 now.  I'm talking about the 2,422,000 in EFS support and the 3,137,000 in EFS depreciation.  Those amounts, what's the basis on which you're paying them?


MR. DEWOLF:  We're paying them based on our percentage of users of the EFS application, so how many users we have of the application, compared to others.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in the evidence somewhere, how that is calculated?


MR. DEWOLF:  I'm not sure whether it is or isn't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi, you're the one who managed all of these budgets.  Do you know where it is in the evidence?


MR. LADANYI:  I don't think it is directly in this evidence, but can we have just a moment so that I can consult with Mr. DeWolf?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DEWOLF:  If you could give me some time over the break maybe I could find the place in the evidence, because I am quite sure it is in the Deloitte study where it goes through and --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually a good solution, Mr. DeWolf.  Thank you.  

I thought I was actually going to get through IT before the break, but I guess not.  Madam Chair, this may be a good time for the break.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, why don't we do that?  We will break until 10:45.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 10:50 a.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could follow up with Mr. DeWolf, who is smiling, so I expect he found something.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  If you look at A6, tab 10, schedule 2, appendix 7. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, A6, tab 10? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Ten.     

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't even have Tab 10.  I’m sorry.  Just a second, let me see if I can find it here.   A6, Tab 10 -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Schedule 2.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Schedule 2.  Okay, yes. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Appendix 7, page 5.  At the top you should have a large 3, “Direct EFS Charge.”

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  What page is that?

     MR. DEWOLF:  Page 5. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of appendix 7? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Appendix 7. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have that binder here so -- okay.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  In that analysis, you see that EGD -- in the tabs there are, sort of, three rows of tabs.  I’ll take you to the bottom one, which is, sort of, the summary, and we'll go, sort of, backwards from there.  

     You’ll see that the EGD original EFS budget is there of $5.4 million dollars.  And that is all the costs that EGD incurs for EFS in support of that application as I described before, in that we run it, we pay the maintenance fees, we provide the support for it, et cetera.  So we have people who provide work on that application.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, these costs are all in your “salaries” line and in your “outside services” line, et cetera; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.      

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  And so those are -- now, those costs are all in this line, okay?  So that 2 million back in that interrogatory response are costs that I incur.  And they're not in the above “other” ones because we kept them out of the “other” costs because they're not there --  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Time out.  Which 2 million? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  In the interrogatory there is $2 million.  This is, again, CCC Interrogatory 186 -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   186, yes.

     MR. DEWOLF:  -- and there is $2 million in ECS for EFS support maintenance.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Which we agreed is, actually, 2,422,000 less 405,000? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's right.  Okay?  And so what we do is we have a support agreement with EFS where we provide services to them and we charge them for those services.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  $405,000? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No, the $2 million.  And then they charge us back for the support, because it gets netted.  We charge them the amount before the 405,000 out because we do those services for them, then they charge us back the 2 million.  So we really only pay --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You lost me, totally.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  What I think we should do is take an undertaking to lay this out, because it is extremely complicated.  

But the net of it is that ECS has -- EGD has expenses that they pay for the support of the application.  We have a service agreement with ECS for the depreciation of the asset.  Okay?  So we have a total amount that we pay for ECS.  And we've been paying that for the last numbers of years, and it’s been in our budget for the last numbers of years for EFS support.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. DeWolf, I take it you saw in the faces of all the intervenor representatives when we started to talk about this, surprise.  So if it's been in your budget, this 5.5 million appears to be a surprise to all of us, and so we need some details on why you're paying it. 

     The service agreement, for example, is not in the evidence, is it? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I don't believe so.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the method by which ECS's costs are allocated to EGD is not in the record, is it? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  It is, in that on that page that I show the Oracle system maintenance, all of the information on there is all done by Deloitte in their study -- came down and determined that the cost for EFS by the utility should be 5.04.  And that's where they came up with the credit and said there should be this allocation from corporate, because the other entities are benefiting from this $405,000.  

     So they went and they looked at the way the numbers of users -- which was the allocation methodology that they used to come up with the number, which is consistent with the -- and that’s why I referred earlier to the RCAM methodology.  They used the RCAM methodology to confirm that the ECS amount that was being charged would be correct.  They saw that there was a $405,000 adjustment that needed to be made, and introduced an Enbridge Inc. allocation credit to make up for that differential.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, if I may.   I think, in the beginning of his answer there, Mr. DeWolf indicated this is all really complicated, and certainly his answer has backed that up.  And he did indicate that he’d welcome the chance to be able to explain this in written form.  And I wonder if that might be more efficient and clear than cluttering up the transcript with the risk of ships passing in the night -- that we're talking about different things.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm probably going to get to the undertaking fairly shortly, but I’m conscious of the fact that once I leave this subject I'm never going to be able to pursue it again, probably, because I'm not going to call these witnesses back once I get the undertaking.  So to the extent that I can at least get some sense out of things like this, it’s better to do it now.  

     But I agree that it's a complicated subject.  What I am concerned with -- and I'm going to ask then for two undertakings.   

     First, can you give us a summary of this -- have you already given us an undertaking on the 1.9?  You have; right? 

     MR. STEVENS:  To understand the difference between the 1.9 and 1.4? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Yes we have.     

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then, for the rest of that 7,086,000, the EFS component, will you tell us where the expenses are incurred, how there they're allocated to you and what the basis of that allocation is.  Because what I see on this appendix 7 of the Deloitte report doesn't tell us how that original EFS budget is created, does it? 

     MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry.  When you ask about how are costs incurred, could you explain what you mean by that? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Well, for example, I don't know from Mr. DeWolf's answer whether these costs are in EGD and then shifted over to ECS and come back, or whether they're incurred in ECS, or part-and-part.   I don't know any of that. 

     MR. STEVENS:   So you're interested in where are the costs incurred --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. STEVENS:  -- as opposed to how? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps both would be -- would make sense; where and what makes up the costs.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So where the costs are incurred and what are all the components of the 7 million -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

     MR. STEVENS:  -- and what's the basis for the allocation.  Is that fair? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J17.4.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.4: WITH RESPECT TO THE EFS
COMPONENT OF THE 7,086,000 ON EXHIBIT NO. A6, TO 

PROVIDE WHERE THEY ARE INCURRED, WHAT THEY ARE MADE UP 

OF, HOW THEY ARE ALLOCATED AND WHAT THE BASIS OF 

ALLOCATION IS.  
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, since we're on it, I wonder if the company could undertake, and maybe, Mr. Ladanyi you're the person who could do this, to provide the Board and the parties with a summary of all charges to EGD from all affiliates, and where they're located in the evidence.  

     So corporate cost allocation, Customer Works, ECS, et cetera, a summary of all of them and where they are in the evidence.  Just so we can see how much of this budget -- of the revenue requirement is coming from affiliates and which affiliates it's coming from.  Can you do that?

     MR. LADANYI:  We could do that.  We have a similar interrogatory, but we’ll undertake to provide that, if you'd like. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'd appreciate that.  Thank you, very much. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J17.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.5:  TO PREPARE AND PROVIDE A 
SUMMARY OF ALL CHARGES TO EGD FROM ALL AFFILIATES, AND 
TO IDENTIFY THE SUPPORTING REFERENCES FOR ALL THE SAID 
CHARGES IN THE EVIDENCE IN THIS HEARING.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. DeWolf, just -- 

     Mr. Stevens.  Thank you.

Mr. DeWolf, I wonder if you could turn up K9.5.   

     MR. DEWOLF:   I’m sorry, I don't have that in my folder.  Yes, I have it now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This just is a convenient list of all the corporate cost allocations and the amounts.  I just want to ‑‑ you have, I guess, 1.4 million.  I just want to know what services you buy from EI.  Can you take us through them?


MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  So if we go down the list, the first one that is mentioned is the Khalix support.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. DEWOLF:  Which is the costs that I talked about in my evidence-in‑chief that we have -- the Khalix application maintains our budgets, and Enbridge Inc. incurs expenses in relation to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Before you leave Khalix support, now, that's people at EI; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not like a telephone support line; right?  This is not support in the sense of a help desk.


MR. DEWOLF:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the people who actually run Khalix in Calgary; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  And they set up the Khalix application so that when we make changes to it, they're the people who come to us and request that if EGD has a new budget that they would like to set up for our 2007 rate case, they would ask the people in Calgary to set that up, because having multiple people going in and setting things up would not be in the best interests of the company.  So it's a central point where they go in and do that function and set up things within it.  


So they are the, sort of, central users of the application in setting things up.  Once that budget is set up, our employees feed all of the numbers into it.  So this is a part of that that we pay for inside that service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So let me understand.  This $313,000, part of it is for things you ask for; right?  So you ask them, Set up a new budget this way.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they do that.  And part of it is the overall costs of running Khalix, right, your share of those?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you know what the split is?


MR. DEWOLF:  If I go back to that same ‑‑ it would be in that same ‑‑ whoops, this is your binder.


In that same Deloitte evidence for Khalix, I would be pointing to tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 54 of 132.  Oh, actually, it's not.  It's A6, tab 10, schedule 2, so it is that same document that I was referring to, appendix 6, page 13.


 The direct time directed to EGD is zero.  In that period of time, they're saying that they're not keeping track of the amount of time because to set up a budget isn't a period of time that they track, apparently, and so all of the ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  You're just guessing there; right?  You don't actually know why it is zero, do you?


MR. DEWOLF:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, go on.


MR. DEWOLF:  So 73 percent is directly attributed to other entities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  So the direct costs, the remaining indivisible costs of which we pay 42 percent.  So there are no direct attributable.  Seventy-three of the time is directly attributable to others and the direct costs of other affiliates, the remaining indivisible costs are 7.4 and we pay 42 percent of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. DeWolf, you're the service recipient for that --


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- service, aren't you?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just asked you what it was about, and you said it was because you want to have your budget set up, and you go and ask them to do that and they charge you for that.  But that's not what it is at all, is it?  It's actually just a straight percentage allocation of the total costs of the system, isn't it?  And you didn't know that, did you, until you just looked it up now?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, Mr. DeWolf is not an expert on cost allocation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask you, Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. LADANYI:  No, but I'm trying to help, because you're mischaracterizing this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi, Mr. DeWolf is the service recipient.  I asked him a straight question about that service that he is buying.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Ladanyi, your turn.


MR. DEWOLF:  I am the recipient of that, and it isn't a straight allocation of the thing.  It is that they take out the 73 percent of what they do directly for other people, out of the costs of that department, and they allocate to us, based on the RCAM definition, 42 percent of the costs which are attributable to us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They don't actually charge you anything to set up your budget; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They just charge you a percentage of the total?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your previous evidence was incorrect?


MR. DEWOLF:  That previous statement was incorrect.


MR. LADANYI:  We can ask them 15 times a year or 30 times a year to set up a different budget.  There is no additional charge for doing that.  You have to understand that this is a -- so what he is talking about here, it is a charge coming in for Khalix, but it's not based on the number of budgets being produced.  But for a rate case like this, we would be requested to produce all kinds of variance reports.


So if we go down to each individual department, we would ask each individual department to input information into Khalix so those variance reports that people like you are interested in can be produced.  We would contact Khalix people in Calgary.  They would set up the spreadsheets in Khalix, and then these spreadsheets would be populated by department people here in Toronto.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we move on to line 12 of Exhibit K9.5, please?  That's the next one; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  So the next one is enterprise IT program management?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DEWOLF:  For $190,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I don't need you to look up the Deloitte report, Mr. DeWolf.


MR. DEWOLF:  After my last experience, if you don't mind, I would like to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But, first, I want you to tell me not what Deloitte says, I want you to tell me what you're buying.


MR. DEWOLF:  What I'm buying is ‑‑


MR. STEVENS:  Excuse me just for a moment, please.  I think if the witness wishes to refer to a document, I don't think it is up to the questioner to tell him that he can't refer to a document within the evidence.


MR. DEWOLF:  This is the document that I signed saying these are the services that I buy from ‑‑ that I receive, and I just want to refresh my memory, based upon my last experience, to make sure that ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, here is my problem.  It's clearly an issue in this case whether EGD is actually buying services or whether it's told by its parent company this is how much of a cost you eat.  We have here the one member ‑‑ the one -- the main service recipient, who is not a member of senior management, and it's legitimate for us to say, What are you really buying?  Not what does it say in the parent company's report, but what do you actually think you're buying?


MS. NOWINA:  I understand why you want the information, Mr. Shepherd.  However, I think in fairness to the panel ‑‑ to the witness, under the stress of being on the witness panel, if he needs a memory jogger, we should allow him to find that.


MR. DEWOLF:  I would clarify that this is what I am buying, because this is what I signed off that I am buying.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  I signed this document saying this is what I'm buying, and I have negotiated these things and they're not as presented the first time.  So I just want to make sure that I keep the different services that are provided straight and what is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.


MR. DEWOLF:  ‑‑ being provided, okay.  So on the enterprise IT strategy and planning, this is where the CIO office provides assistance to us in looking forward to where IT is going.  So, for instance, in the past, where I referenced before that we buy META services within our organization, in the past the corporate office had bought some of those services and we were able to get information indirectly through the corporate office some of that information.  


Because of the amount we were doing, we decided we should buy additional services, which we went and did, but that was at a lot less cost than we had done before.  So those are the kind of strategies and understanding of where the IT is going that we get direction from.


We get the advice from the people that are in that organization and their counsel on various different things that are of assistance to us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the same sort of question.  You're looking at actually line 13, I guess, right, under enterprise IT strategy planning and management, which is 833,000; is that right?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that $833,000, again, you don't use them like a consulting firm; right?  This is your share of a total budget.  You're not being charged by the hour or anything like that?


MR. DEWOLF:  But they keep track of their time by the hour for the purposes of this allocation, so that I have some confidence that they're spending the direct amount of time with us that they say they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could ask them, Can you show us how many hours you're working on our stuff?


MR. DEWOLF:  My assumption is that, yes, we can ask them for that, of what they did last year, which you'd have to ask the Deloitte people what they went into to get at these numbers, and what documents were being held by the people out west. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But, as far as you know, they're keeping track of their time; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  I wonder if we could turn, then, just -- I'm not going to go through all of the services you're buying.  But I just want to ask about one more, if I could find it, and that is line 17, Oracle FPA system support, $310,000.  

     Will you just let me -- my question on this is, this is like Khalix; right?  It's not a support desk, it's not a help desk, it's running the system -- or, running the Oracle system? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.

     The last thing on corporate cost allocation is -- and I'm back to your A6, tab 10, schedule 1, page 5 --
     MR. DEWOLF:  Page 5?   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And that number for 2005 estimate, 7,561,000 for costs charged by affiliates, that's not a RCAM number; right?  That's a CAM number.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  I would have to get an answer for that from this number here.  The 2005 --

     MR. LADANYI:  The 2005 is a CAM number.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the Board-approved was actually significantly less than that; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Are you talking about the Board-approved in the settlement agreement?  If you're talking about the Board-approved in the settlement agreement, I think somebody took us to that earlier, I think Mr. DeRose, and that -- you can see that, actually, in the Exhibit K6.4.  We were just talking about that maybe an hour ago, and that number is 1.7 million.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  1.4 is less than that, depending on which number you use. 

     MR. LADANYI:  So the number for 2006, the RCAM, actually, is a lower number; it’s 1.4 million.  So in this case, for IT, that number goes down when you go from CAM to RCAM.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 1.7 for last year, that includes the $400,000 deduction for EFS? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  For 2005? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  No, because the RCAM study is only in effect for 2006.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Ladanyi, then, what actually happened is it went up from 1.7 to 1.9, right, less the 400,000?
     MR. LADANYI:  I think that one has to look at the net number.  If there is a credit, it shouldn't be ignored.  But nevertheless, I think the 1.7 number is part of the 13.5 negotiated settlement.  It's not actually the original CAM number.  And I think we came up with that earlier, when the corporate cost allocation panel was here, a couple of weeks ago.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Let me move away from corporate cost allocation.  I know you are disappointed, Mr. DeWolf, but let's talk about your overall budget.  

     And all I'm doing is, I'm comparing 2004 to 2006 -- because 2005, you're still in it; right?  2004, we know what you spent.

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right.     

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's right, isn't it, that the increase from your 2004 budget to your proposed 2006 budget, is net 24 percent; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Subject to check.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, can you just help me, where you're getting your numbers from, so we can follow along? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  On table 4, which is page 11 of your pre-file, K6, tab 8, schedule 1, page 11, you have a budget.  The bottom line budget is 22,097.  

     MR. LADANYI:  That's 2004 actual.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  2004 actual.  2006 budget is 27,384,000; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Difference 24 percent; correct? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MR. DEWOLF:  -- or subject to check.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if I look at that, that's about a $5.3 million, right, increase over those two years?
     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, just a little bit less than that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to figure out how that happened, and correct me if I’m wrong.  The first part is on your top line salaries, training, et cetera, you’ve got a 1.7 million increase, which is also 24 percent.  Is that right?  From 2004 to 2006, 1.7 million increase in your top line. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the main reason for that is more people; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  More people, inflation and $600,000 of wireless costs for Field Vision.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so 600K for Field Vision.    

     MR. DEWOLF:  See because really there are a whole lot of, you know, major things that offset the $2 million in savings that we're bringing forward.  And so you've got added additional maintenance fees, you have the additional people.  There are only four -- three new people, so that's approximately $240,000.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what you just told us is not the same as what your evidence says, because what your evidence says is the Field Vision costs are in the telecommunication line. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we were just asking about the salaries line. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Oh, okay.  Sorry.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- okay.  So they're not in the salaries line.     

     MR. DEWOLF:  No, they're not in the salaries line. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The salaries line then has a $1.7 million increase, which is primarily new people?  It's 24 percent over two years.  It can't be inflation; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  Let me just turn to some notes I've made.  

     The differences in -- our difference between 2004 actual and 2006 would be that we had staff reductions of 22 people in that period.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Well, okay, let me stop you there, because, again, that's not consistent with the other evidence.  The other evidence is --
     MR. DEWOLF:  This --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me.  The other evidence says you had 133 people in 2004, and you had 153 people in 2006.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not a staff reduction, is it? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Let me finish.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  If you are now bringing in that other piece of evidence, which I guess is the evidence that backs up your K6.1, we have 133 people, which includes all my staff, including the solution delivery group, which is 100 percent to capital, and their salaries aren't in the O&M. 
     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.

     MR. DEWOLF:  So if you take those out, and we have an interrogatory which I could point you to if you'd like --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  -- which would be CCC 183, which has the capital head count taken out.  So the O&M head count at that period, for 2003 -- at the end of 2003, at the beginning of 2004, was 114.  Okay?  During 2004, we reduced staff by 22 people.  We had an increase in costs of $600,000 due to the fact that in 2004, because we were negotiating the outsourcing of the mainframe when we moved the IT department back in, we wanted the severances of the mainframe people to stay within ECS.  There was no point in moving them into the gas distribution and then having to severance other, new people.  So we left those people out in ECS and paid ECS for their services.  

     Therefore, in 2004, there was $600,000 that was not in the salary line for those employees.  It was in one of the other lines.  And so we have that increase cost of $600,000 there.  

     We have new hires of ten people in -- the fact that we had new applications that we brought in.  We had a 3 percent increase and we had other increases.  So if you take the 114, minus 22, plus 10, it gives you 102 people at the end of 2004.  Okay.


And on my evidence, I have 101, and that's because there was one vacancy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.


MR. DEWOLF:  Then in 2005, or ‑‑ and so that's what's happening in 2005, and then in 2006 we will add three people, which gives you 105, which is the number that we have for our 2006.  So at the beginning of 2006, we will have 105 people in the department.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I'm having a harder time with this, because we've identified that there's a $1.7 million budget increase on the salary line from 2004 to 2006.


MR. DEWOLF:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's clear that inflation wasn't 24 percent.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've now made clear that it's not new people, right, because three new people don't ‑‑ aren't $1.7 million, unless they're really good at what they do; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what's the reason for the 24 percent?  I just don't understand.


MR. DEWOLF:  The increase is that we had this $600,000 amount that was not in our 2004 salaries, because we were paying ECS for part of that.


We have the fact ‑‑ the 3 percent increase in 2004, and then the 3.5 increase ‑‑ actually, it is 2005, 3 percent increase, and a 3.5 percent increase for 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you for a second.


I thought we just ran down the $600,000, so let's figure this out again.  You had $600,000 of something that would normally be in a salary line, but instead you have it in the ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  It would have been outside services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- office and technology services line; right? 


MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct.  So it's moving from that in 2004 out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2004, that line is overstated by 600,000, in effect, and the salaries line is understated?


MR. DEWOLF:  Correct.  So if you want to do the math on it, we start at the 713 on the dollar side.  We went through the people line.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DEWOLF:  If we want to go through the dollar line, we start out the $7,113,000 in costs, which is the 2004 top-line number --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DEWOLF:  -- in my evidence.  We have a reduction of 1.3, $1.4 million because of the people that we let go.  We have the $600,000 increase.  We have the new hires of $1 million.  We have a 3 percent increase, which was $222,000.  We have other increases in severance, promotions and training fees, which were also included in all of this, adding up to $340,000, which gets us to $7.9 million, which is the number that starts in 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually didn't want to run it down in detail.  I'm sorry, I've gone farther than I needed to on this.  We're going to get an interrogatory response, anyway -- an undertaking that breaks this out.


What I would like to do, though, is ask you about then ‑‑ because that helps us.  The 600 helps us a lot, because you got 1.7 million increase in people costs, but then you've got a 1.2 million increase in the office and technology services line.


Now, as I understand what you're saying, that should actually ‑‑ we should treat that as a $1.8 million increase, really?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the way you've explained that in your evidence is, from 2004 to 2005, you had a $2.1 million increase in mainframe costs, and then from 2005 to 2006 you have a $1.5 million decrease in mainframe costs.  Can you tell us what that is about?


MR. DEWOLF:  Because when we outsourced the mainframe, which saved us a significant amount of money back in 2004, because at that point we were paying the whole cost of mainframe, Accenture had moved the applications off of it that they were using and, therefore, we weren't receiving revenue from them for use of the mainframe anymore.


And so we outsourced the mainframe, which saved us some money, and we set up a schedule of payments that we would pay them over the next three years, which were weighted on the back end to encourage us to get off.  And so as time ramped up, as we went along, the costs of using the mainframe continued to increase every year until the point where we could start getting them off, because we didn't start taking applications off until -- basically, at the end of this year, we will have had people off, and then our prediction was that it was going to be 2005.  In October 2005, we would have the majority of the applications off, and then the costs would go down.  


So we fixed our costs up until October of 2005, which had steady increases, and we contracted to that.  And then, in 2006, because we will have had EnVision and Entrac which have taken applications off, that will possibly now go down and there will be another decrease in 2007 when we get the final applications off.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would actually have expected your mainframe costs to go down year by year, but you couldn't get the applications off fast enough, and, as a result, your 2005 is higher than you expected, but you're getting it eventually?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  But that still doesn't explain a $1.8 million increase from 2005 to ‑‑ 2004 to 2006, because the mainframe self-adjusts; right?  So you've explained why the main frame goes up in 2005 and down in 2006.


MR. DEWOLF:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But between 2004 and 2006, there's some other reason why that area increased; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  Well, you have the additional ‑‑ so we're looking at the office and technology services?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DEWOLF:  And so we have the additional costs of Entrac that come in during those periods.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Additional costs of Entrac?


MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  So in 2004, we had inflation in the mainframe costs, and then in 2005 to 2006, we have the fact that we have inflation, increase in software maintenance, and now the backing out of the mainframe increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So inflation is only a small amount of it.  So it is basically increase in software maintenance costs; correct?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is that a particular application, or is that just overall?


MR. DEWOLF:  There are a number of them, Entrac being the largest one.  We now have Enmar that is -- has come to play, in that we now have the licence fees for it, because as much as we can, we try to get the maintenance fees for the first year to be included in the warranty of the application when we put it in live, and then the O&M gets hit in the second year of the applications being live.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we've got your 5 million increases over those two years.  There's a million-seven for people, which is really a million-one; a million-two for office and technology services, which, with that 600 adjustment, is really a million-eight.  Then you have got 800,000 for telecom and 1.3 million in Cap Ex.


So the telecom is more BlackBerries; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  BlackBerries are one part of it, but there is $1 million of that which is the Field Vision application and the fact that we will be buying wireless services to communicate with our trucks.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Great.  And that's part of EnVision; right?


MR. DEWOLF:  It's associated with EnVision; that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last thing is, your Cap Ex.  The amount capitalized has gone down from 2 million to $700,000?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that just, sort of, a normal variation, or has something happened there?


MR. DEWOLF:  What's happened there is -- remember when I talked earlier about when we started to -- on the legacy applications, where there were applications that we were now migrating onto new applications and we were no longer supporting them, we took the support people, put them on those projects, but because we weren't supporting them we didn't need to backfill?  And during that year we had EnVision and Entrac both going on at the same time, and Enmar, and so there were significant numbers of support people that ended up getting capitalized, and so that's why we have the large increase.  And so their salaries are up in the top line, but because they were moved off -- and in normal years, and as it will be in 2006, we will have to backfill those resources.  

     But in 2004 and 2005, mostly in 2004, we have the situation where three very major applications were being done.  We decided that we were not going to support those applications any more.  We wouldn't fix any bugs that we found in them, the users weren't asking for any new enhancements.  If they needed new enhancements, that was all done in the new application, because it made no sense to do it in one and then do it again in the other.  So those people were put into capital for that period of time.  They got familiar with the application so that they could support it when they came back. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The 24 percent increase in your overall budget over those two years, and we can talk about the details of why it happened, but coming back to the sort of “forest” question as opposed to the “trees” part of the company strategy, tell me if this is correct, is to increase the use of technology to make the other parts of the business more efficient; right?  In the end, it’s supposed to drive costs down.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Some of that is that way, some of it is to replace old and ancient technologies, to save on the costs of the technologies.  A lot of the investments we have made have not been to drive efficiencies in the company, they have been to drive the IT costs down, which the ratepayer has benefited from. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Well, but I -- no, I -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  A lot of the projects we've been doing recently -- because -- given an application that we in existence have.  This is no different than on the gas line, if we go and replace a gas line down a street because it’s old and we can't maintain it any more, the old technology that it's on, the people on that street don't use any more gas.  There is no more benefit to the original investment.  

     The same with IT.  We put in an application, there is a benefit for that original application, and that technology becomes old.  We have to replace it and so we go into a new project to replace that application, and the benefit to the company is solely in the fact that that application now is less cost to the company to run and maintain.  The original benefits of it are still there.  And so, therefore, the people in operations or engineering or finance that were originally displaced by those applications are still not there, but yet we have a lower cost.   

     And so you see all of these costs that we’ve gone in the last numbers of years inside IT, and the benefits of those projects show up in IT.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then one of two things is true.  When you spend this additional money you either drive other costs down, so your net improvement, right, or you create benefits outside of IT, which also is a net improvement, in terms of the company's overall costs; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  And when I talk to capital, I’ll talk about some of those -- of which projects are going to be to replace infrastructure, to either reduce costs, avoid additional costs, or to provide benefit to the company.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that this $5 million increase -- we should be able to find somewhere, in theory at least, there's got to be a decrease of at least that much somewhere else to justify that $5 million expenditure? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  Because some of those costs, the benefit has already been taken, in that the costs of IT back in 2003 dropped.  As we took all of the people -- we started taking the people out of O&M and putting them into capital projects, and so therefore, there has been a drop in IT costs over that period of time.  

     We've taken the mainframe and we’ve removed it.  And so if I can point you to CCC Interrogatory 185, the IT budget in 2002 was 44 million.  

     And in 2003, when we started this application, we started going through and turning off applications.  So software applications that we had, that we were paying maintenance on and we had no intention of upgrading the application, we were no longer phoning these people for support, because the application -- the software was old and they weren't answering any of our questions any more.  It just didn't make any sense to pay somebody for maintenance on something we weren't going to receive any benefit for.  So we cancelled those maintenance agreements.  

     And we have been able to go through and enjoy, over the last numbers of years, the benefits of the fact we took those benefits early -- as early as we could, so they could benefit the ratepayer.  And now we're starting to see some of the increases.  

From a here-on basis I try to, as much as possible, have some savings that offset the increases in use of technology by the business, for instance, the introduction of BlackBerries, and those kinds of things that are brand new.  And we try to, as much as possible, offset those. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The new technologies that you're using, that are replacing mainframes, for example, with distributed networks and things like that, new software, those things are inherently cheaper than the old ways of doing those same things; right?  Generally. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Generally, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason is that they’ve become simpler, they’ve become more efficient.  They’ve become easier to handle, right, a lot of reasons?

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So generally speaking, these drops in the IT budget that you had in the early part of this decade, they were the result of you adopting those new technologies as fast as you could to get those savings; right? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  They were there because I stopped paying for the old technologies in advance of the new ones coming.  

     And so, to make this discussion a lot easier, I could have said, Continue paying that maintenance, and then said, Okay, here, I was paying 100,000 here, and now I'm replacing something with 60.  What I did is, I got rid of 100 for two years, because in the last two years we weren't doing any upgrades, so the new releases that the companies were giving us as part of the maintenance were not useful for us -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  And the -- and we weren't phoning them for support, so we decided we were not going to pay for the maintenance.  So for those years we did not pay the $100,000.  And now I'm asking for payment for the 60, because I took those benefits and gave them to the ratepayer. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 2003 and 2004 low IT spending numbers -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that's like the ratepayer had a bit of a holiday from those costs -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   -- because that's the break between legacy systems and new systems. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, excellent.  

     Okay.  I'm going to turn to engineering now, if I could, and I will be a lot shorter.  I know I’m way over my time, Madam Chair.  I'm trying to get through it as fast as I can.  

     And I have an exhibit that will assist on this.  And I thank my friend, Mr. Stevens, for working with his witnesses to get these numbers correct.  I wonder if we could get an exhibit number for this.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  This will be Exhibit K17.1, and it will be characterized as engineering department budgets by year.  

EXHIBIT NO. K17.1:   ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT BUDGETS BY 
YEAR.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This will be brief.  Who is it that I ask these questions of?  Mr. Lapp?  Okay.   

This just takes your numbers -- you're familiar with these numbers, right? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And these numbers are correct? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I'm just going to ask about a couple of these.  

     You've got -- from 2005 to 2006, you've got your salary and expenses number up by 8.5 percent.  And we just heard Mr. Ladanyi say that you’re one department that isn't really driven by customer adds.  And so I take it, then, that this increase in your personnel costs, if you like, is - and we're going to see the details, later, when you respond to the undertaking - but in the meantime, that the main driver in this is increased government regulation, increased requirements to do things like inspections and stuff like that.  

     MR. LAPP:  That's partially the case.  For instance, there's staff add in the measurement area which is due to additional measurement government requirements.   

There’s also a staff add in the integrity management group, which is what we're calling “a corrosion expert.”  So they are, in relation to both government regulations, as well as enhancing safety and reliability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me then turn to -- the next line I want to look at is outside services, and that's going up -- you're projecting it's going to go up 13 percent from this year to next year, and it's gone up 29 percent over the three years on this chart.


That seems like a lot.  Why is that?


MR. LAPP:  There are a number of reasons year over year that I could get into, if you'd like.  One over-riding driver behind these increases is the locates in the Ontario One Call charges.  What these are are increased costs to perform locates, which is done by contractors on our behalf, as well as charges to the Ontario One Call centre because of the increased amount of what I will call excavation activity.  So what happens is, as excavation activity increases, presumably people will call for locates more, which will drive the costs up, accordingly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So help me on that just a bit.  Is this because there is more locates, or the locates are more expensive now?


MR. LAPP:  It is primarily because there are more locates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how many locates did you have in 2003, 2004 and 2005?  Can you tell us what they were year by year?


MR. LAPP:  I don't have 2003 at my fingertips here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we do 2004, '5 and '6?


MR. LAPP:  I have about 217,000 in '04.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. LAPP:  217, a very similar number, in '05, and 241,000 in '06.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's interesting.  So you have a $1 million increase in your outside services budget between 2004 and 2005, or in your estimated actual.  Is that locates?


MR. LAPP:  Which years were that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  2004 to 2005, $1 million, 14.7 to 15.7. 


MR. LAPP:  Part of it is -- like, the increase in the services category is partially due to locates and One Call.  There are also a number of other elements that make up that increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the same number of locates between 2004 and 2005, so presumably not very much of that million is locates; right?


MR. LAPP:  Again, it is a portion, because in that category there are some pluses and minuses in different categories throughout the different groups and engineering.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have got another $2 million increase in that category from 2005 to 2006, and that's because you think your locates are going to go up by, it looks like, about 13, 14 percent?


MR. LAPP:  That's just a part of the increase.  One of the other items, you will notice that the materials and supplies drop between '05 and '06. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. LAPP:  That is because, as I think I mentioned in the direct testimony, the odorant moved from the materials category into the supply services.


MR. SHEPHERD:   All right.


MR. LAPP:  There are also a couple of other elements that make up that increase from '05 to '06, one of which is in the integrity management area, where we're doing inspections on gate station inlet piping.  This is where we take the gas from TransCanada into our system.  Those pieces of pipeline operate at very high pressures and stress levels, so they will be ‑‑ or plan to be inspected in '06.


There is also a component which we call facilities churn that makes that up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's facilities churn?


MR. LAPP:  I will turn to our ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  I hesitate to ask, but I will.


MR. HODGENS:  Facilities churn is the requirement and the costs to relocate people from -- among departments and buildings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you have to do that anyway on a regular basis?  Why would it change from one year to the next?


MR. HODGENS:  Well, our churn has been a little more volatile in the last couple of years due to the impact on the property plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand that.  Explain what that means.  You mean like the corporate office has decided to move some people around more than normal and so that creates costs for you; is that right?


MR. HODGENS:  Are you familiar with the property plan, sir?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MR. HODGENS:  We have in the past few years been divesting ourselves of owned premises which have -- now contain surplus space due to the unbundling of our company over the last few years, so we've been replacing those properties with smaller leased sites.  But in the process of disposing of owned properties and establishing the smaller lease sites, we have to relocate our staff from building to building.  That is abnormal churn.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, I see.  And you're expecting to have a lot of that next year?


MR. HODGENS:  2006 we have churn for two new sites, Barrie and Nepean.  Sorry, Barrie and Nepean.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So I take it, then, that the substantial increase in rents and leases is also, similarly, as a result of the property plan?


MR. HODGENS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you had a -- from 2004 to 2005, you had a big drop because you moved out of Atria and Parkway; right?


MR. HODGENS:  That's correct.  Those leases expired.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But now your costs are going way back up again because you're getting some more expensive space?


MR. HODGENS:  Not more expensive.  We're leasing two new operation centres.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this will be a shift from capital costs to lease costs, in fact?


MR. HODGENS:  Yes, the rental costs from normal operating costs and an ultimate reduction in structures, capital structures.


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Shepherd, this was subject of the -- in RP-2002-0133 case, and there was a settlement agreement on the property plan.  So this is -- what you're seeing here is really the end of the property plan as outlined in that case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  In that property plan, what we were doing is we were getting rid of properties that were really much larger owned properties that had to do with a different mode of operation that Consumers Gas had for many years, whereby they were both in the service business, they were in the appliance sales business, and they were in the water heater rental business.  So we were going from larger owned premises to smaller rental premises.


So the owned premises would have been in rate base, and as they were sold according to the property plan in that settlement agreement.  We disposed of those properties and we replaced them with rental premises.  That's why you see, for example, an increase in the rental costs, but you would have also correspondingly seen a decrease in the general plant accounts and rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not ending up costing the ratepayers money.  It is ending up saving the ratepayers money?


MR. LADANYI:  It is actually a net savings to the ratepayers.  And that was all discussed in that rate case, RP-2002-0133, during the settlement negotiations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I remember, okay.  So then the last thing I want to ask you about is the cost capitalized line.  I just want to understand, because engineering is one of the departments that capitalizes a lot of costs; right?


MR. LAPP:  We do have capitalized costs in engineering, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, you're proposing 3.7 million next year in capitalized costs; right?


MR. LAPP:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't changed your capitalization policy?


MR. LAPP:  No, we have not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Am I right in understanding that, relating to engineering, there's actually three categories of capitalized costs?  Tell me if this is right.


You have costs that never see this budget here that are just straight capital costs that you manage, but they're capital right from the get-go; right?  Some people, they're just all capital, for example?


MR. LAPP:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a second category, which is the costs that are put in your O&M budget, and then backed out at the bottom because they're capitalized.  We see this in your filing; right?


MR. LAPP:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the 3.7.


MR. LAPP:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have a third category, which is there's a general category of corporate costs, some of which are then capitalized on some formula, right, and some would relate to engineering?


MR. LADANYI:  Actually, engineering is not part of that allocation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. LADANYI:  Because it already does direct charges.  What is part of the ‑‑ you're referring to administrative and general expenses, and engineering would not be part of those, but other departments would be.  Some of the departments would.  We can go through it, if you're interested.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't want to go through it in detail.  We will save that for the capital panel.  Maybe, Mr. Ladanyi, you could just help me with one thing.  I'm looking at K6.4.


MR. LADANYI:  I have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a line 15, which are amounts related to capital expenditures.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's this third category; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is general Cap Ex.


MR. LADANYI:  It's called administrative and general expenses that were capitalized.  That was actually the subject of a Board -- an issue in a Board case.  It was EB-0497, and we prepared a study on capitalization of administrative and general expenses, and the Board approved the ratios and the process in that case.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I'm asking these things is, and I guess that third category doesn't relate to you, Mr. Lapp, but your actual department budget, the one you work to, is not the one we're seeing here in your O&M pre-file; right?  Your actual budget includes those components of capitalized costs, as well, because you have those -- that's money you have to spend too; right?

     MR. LAPP:  Yes.  We have capital budgets, as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And your overall -- for example, your overall personnel budget includes some that are capital and some that are O&M.  

     MR. LAPP:  Yes, that is correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And same with outside services, the same with all the other lines; right? 

     MR. LAPP:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you manage it as one batch.  

     MR. LAPP:  Well, we separately budget O&M and capital, because there are -- as you mentioned earlier, there are individuals that are charged directly to capital work, and then others that are charged to O&M work.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But I guess my point is they don't wear a badge saying, I'm capital.  They're just another one of the employees and they all work together.  And some of them do things that are capital, and some of them do things that are O&M; right? 

     MR. LAPP:  In some of the departments, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's true of engineering. 

     MR. LAPP:  In some of the parts of engineering, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay. 

     Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  I apologize for going so long. 

     MS. NOWINA:  That's okay.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

     Mr. Dingwall? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  I do have about 10 or 15 minutes of questions.  I'm in your hands as to when you wish to take the break.  I'm not sure if the Board has any external commitments which require a specific time. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Unless anyone else thinks they're going to take an extremely lengthy period, I would prefer to finish with panel before lunch. 

     And I guess, Mr. Stevens, I don't know whether or not your panel needs a break at this point or whether we should soldier on and complete.  

     MR. STEVENS:  We would appreciate the opportunity to be finished before lunch, if that’s at all possible. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we try to do that.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL: 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to limit my questions, hopefully, to the IT portion of this panel.  There's been significant reference made this morning to CCC Interrogatory 186, which is at I-5, 186.  

     And in searching through the cobwebs in my mind, I've been trying to remember the genesis of the company ECS.  I know, Mr. DeWolf, in past proceedings you've testified with respect to where it came from and what it did.  Can you kind of give me a bird's eye view of where this company came from?  

     MR. DEWOLF:  ECS, when -- at that time, I guess, Consumers Gas was looking into one bundle, it was determined that it would be beneficial to the company and to the ratepayers that a shared-services company be established that could provide services both to the utility and to the home services, so that duplications of costs would not be incurred.  

     And so therefore, there would be a benefit to the ratepayer in that one call -- two call-centres looking after two companies, rather than having one-call centre, which one would think would be cheaper, if you had one call-centre doing both, and having two IT departments and a number of other services reviewed to be those shared services.   And ECS was created to be that shared-services company 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Mr. DeWolf.  Now that, I take it, is a point in time round about 2001, 2002. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I think it's -- correct me, isn't it 2000? 

     MR. LADANYI:  2000.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  2000. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  The dreaded Y2K.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not going to get into that.  

     So at the time of ECS's inception, it involved the information technology, customer care, and billing: is that -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  HR and billing were, I think fleet was also included in that.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And over time, a number of those services migrated back to EGD, and a number of the other services migrated to other entities.  Can you go through that very quickly?

     MR. DEWOLF:  We migrated the call-centre billing and those to CWLP when we went into the agreement with Terasen on provision of those services, and so that moved out.  ECS, at that time, continued to provide some services to that company, in respect to IT et cetera.  

     Then Enbridge - forgive me, if the chronology is not right, and if you want it right, then I can take more time and try to make it right - but then we sold Home Services and so, therefore, the IT for Home Services was transitioned out of IT.  The same with the HR and their fleet, it was all transitioned out.  

     And then, later on, I think, in matters of months after that transaction took place, we went into the transaction with Accenture to take over the call-centre, billing, et cetera.  And so the IT services provided to Accenture started being transferred out.  

And what was left was a HR department that was just doing work for the utility inside the shared-services organization, an IT department that was only doing work -- or, predominantly doing work for the utility, and the fleet department that was predominantly doing work for the utility.  

     And so it was decided that those departments would now move back in again, because now it was an extra burden because there is duplication in costs.  You have accountants on both sides of the thing, and the CIS application.  So what was left inside ECS was the assets that had been accumulated over those times, IT assets, so the CIS application that originally moved over into that entity and the EFS application that had been made.  And at that time, because it was sort of the first corporate-wide application that we put in place that was going to be shared across the entity, it had been determined that that was the best place to share that, and that it would provide services to all of the other business units, which ECS up to that time had not done but it was sort of moving down a road.  But then, when all of these other things happened, that stopped.  

     And that's why, at this moment, inside ECS we have the CIS application and we have the EFS application that are the only things left.  And there are no employees in that company at the moment.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now you've been eloquent and very helpful in the provision of the time-line.  I’m trying to remember when it was that fleet and HR and, basically, all the bodies moved out of ECS.  That was approximately two years ago?  Is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  We were thinking it's in the summer of 2002, but we're not sure right now.  If it's important, we can take an undertaking.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Some of the bodies started to move -- it's probably better to take the undertaking, because I'd just be going off memory.  But it started in 2002 and, as I explained, some of the bodies did not move until into 2004.  So it was a progression over time.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not sure much turns on that.  I'm not going to clutter the record. 

     Can you tell me when the corporate decision was taken to begin an enterprise-wide EFS? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  It would have been sometime in 2002.  Again, I can take an undertaking.  It might have been sort of the end of 2001, 2002, when the discussions first started taking place on that concept.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And when did this function begin to reside within ECS? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  During the project, assets would have been bought, licenses, hardware, et cetera, and so during that time ECS would have started gathering that.  And I would have to go and, again, check to see precisely when EFS went live, but it went live in the other business units before Gas Distribution.  Gas Distribution was the last business unit to move over, and I believe that was sometime in 2002, 2003.  So it’s over that period that the thinking, the project planning and the project execution took place.   

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in looking at I-5 186, in the response there are two lines that relate to ECS.  And the first of those lines is ECS for EFS support maintenance.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm kind of confused there, because I think you indicated ECS has no employees.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Right.  And this is where I have to check into this, and I've already taken the undertaking to figure this out.  But why this says ECS is the point that I have in question, because I know that we pay the maintenance fees, we are the people who do the back-ups of that application.  They're EGD employees that do that.  So either that word is wrong and it should be EGD and that really this is just, as I was trying to explain before, not trying to clutter the utility accounting with work that's being done completely outside the utility and so, therefore, it has now got put down into this, because that is, as I understand it ‑ and my belief is - that that is what we paid to Oracle for maintenance fees.  Those are the costs of our bodies that maintain that application and do that.  


So, again, I will clear that up in the undertaking that I've taken.


MR. DINGWALL:  Right and I appreciate that.


The next line is ECS for EFS depreciation.


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Does the EFS ‑‑


MR. DEWOLF:  The EFS application resides within Enbridge Commercial Services, ECS, and, therefore, the depreciation is taken there and, therefore, we are charged with that.  And under accounting rules, we can't classify that as depreciation because it's not.  It's an O&M charge to us, and that's why it shows up as an O&M line item to us.  


If it was in our asset, it would have shown up in depreciation and we would get a rate of return on it.  In this case, we don't.


MR. DINGWALL:  You mentioned earlier that ECS had been charging EGD for depreciation for a number of years?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that that was with respect to the CIS application.  I certainly recall references to that form of depreciation in past proceedings; is that correct?


MR. DEWOLF:  No, we don't pay depreciation.  There are a number of agreements which I'm not really familiar with.  I know that they exist and I have general understanding of what's in them, which allows Enbridge Gas Distribution to use the CIS application, but it does not come through in the same manner as this.


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. McGill will be on later, and he's the witness on the CIS charge and components of the CIS charge, and maybe you could take it up with him.


MR. DEWOLF:  But the CIS depreciation does not --


MR. DINGWALL:  It's not a direct charge to EGD.  There may be other parties involved, and Mr. McGill would be the one who can answer that.  Just for clarification, these questions are on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  I don't believe I said that at the outset.


Has the EFS depreciation been charged to the company prior to 2006?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.  It's in our O&M, subject to check, I think, since the 2003 rate case, where we first talked about the benefit of the EFS and how it benefited the gas company and that it was cheaper than us going out and, in the end, buying a new financial application on our own.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you recall, Mr. DeWolf, what the historical amounts for annual ECS depreciation costs specifically for EFS were?


MR. DEWOLF:  I do not know specifically what those numbers are.  They're in the order of that number, but, again, I can take an undertaking to let you know what those amounts each year were.


MR. DINGWALL:  If you could, that would be appreciated.


MR. DEWOLF:  They haven't changed significantly.


MR. BATTISTA:  That ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know, Mr. DeWolf, what the amounts ‑‑


MR. BATTISTA:  Do you want an undertaking?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That's J17.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. J17.6:  TO PROVIDE THE HISTORICAL 

AMOUNTS FOR ANNUAL ECS DEPRECIATION COSTS FOR EFS.

MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. DeWolf, I believe you made mention of a service agreement that covers the charging of these expenses?


MR. DEWOLF:  I know that there is a service agreement between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Commercial Services.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Do you know what the amounts of the charges for EFS charged to other EI companies are?


MR. DEWOLF:  No, I do not know.  Let me check to see whether it's in the document that I referred to before.


Again, going back to that tab A6, tab 10, schedule 2, appendix 7, page 5, in that it indicates it doesn't break out the depreciation.  It has the costs altogether, the total cost of ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to ask you just to stop there for one second, Mr. DeWolf, as my ‑‑ as I get that on my screen so I can follow along with you.


MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay, please go ahead, sir.


MR. DEWOLF:  So in that, you notice in that middle table that goes right across the page -- and I point to the bottom, the total line where the system budget for the whole application, including the maintenance and support for everything, is $14.3 million.  Then it has the EGD users, and the allocations to the other entities are $8.3 million, and then the subtraction happens there.


So that shows you the allocations of the total costs.  It doesn't break down the depreciation in that, but it takes you through the fact that the whole application costs $14.3 million to run.  We pay 5 of that, and the other entities pay the 8.2 or 8.3 million.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Mr. DeWolf.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Millar.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, very briefly, just really a clarification question. 


If I could have the panel, please, turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 61.  That's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 61.


 This is a question from Board Staff regarding the savings that the company expects to accrue through the elimination of legacy IT technologies.  Do you have it?


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I do have it in front of me.


MR. MILLAR:  If you see at the bottom, there's a table that shows the annual incremental savings.  It shows other things as well, but the annual incremental savings for 2006 are listed at $3 million; is that correct?


MR. DEWOLF:  That's the 2006, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right, 2006.


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And if we turn to your pre-filed evidence, Exhibit A6, tab 8, schedule 1, page 5 of 11, this is the table 2 that we've referred to before.


I'm wondering if you can confirm for me that that $3 million in savings that's referred to in the interrogatory response is reflected in the 2006 budget numbers.


MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, it is.


MR. MILLAR:  And if we turn to the page prior to that, page 4 of 11, paragraph 16, the last sentence reads:  

"These costs are partially offset by a $1.5 million reduction in mainframe processing and $750,000 in other targeted cost reductions."


Can you help me reconcile the $1.5 million reduction with the $3 million savings that are referred to in Board Staff IR 61?


MR. DEWOLF:  If you can just give me one moment? 
     MR. MILLAR:  Sure.     

     MR. DEWOLF:  Off the top of my head, I cannot -- I do not -- can't think of what would have made up that difference.  So we'll have to go back through our notes, what went into it in response to that. 

     MR. MILLAR:   I also see the next part of the sentence reads:  

          “And $750,000 in other targeted cost reductions.” 

     Are those -- is that $750,000 related to the elimination of legacy IT technologies, or is that something else? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  No.  Some of them are legacy applications. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And some of them are not?

     MR. DEWOLF:  And some of them are not. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps I could take an undertaking then to reconcile -- I'm sorry, Mr. Ladanyi. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Let me turn you to --

     MR. MILLAR:   Sure. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  -- some of the explanation would be in CCC Interrogatory 171, which would be Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 171, where we have the savings. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So, as I see it, that gets us up to 1.9; is that correct? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So could we take -- have an undertaking to -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, I will do that.  

     MR. MILLAR:  -- figure out where the rest of the money is?  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Undertaking J17.7.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.7:   TO PROVIDE PARTICULARS AS TO 
THE SUMS WHICH MAKE UP THE $750,000 SHOWN AS “TARGETED 
COST REDUCTIONS” IN EXHIBIT A6, TAB 8, SCHEDULE 1. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stevens, your re-direct. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. I just have one question, actually, Madam Chair.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:

     MR. STEVENS:  I'll be very brief.  It's a question for Mr. DeWolf.  Mr. DeWolf, you’ll recall that when you were speaking with Mr. DeRose, he was asking you questions about the travel and entertainment portion of your budget and what went into it.  And I think where things ended up, if I remember right, is that you said, you confirmed that that is part of the “other” portion of your budget, and that the “other” portion of the budget is $750,000 for the fiscal 2006 year.  

     Do you know or could you tell us, what are the components of the “other” budget?  What are the things that go in there?  Is it more than travel and entertainment? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Yes, there are other things in there that go into that budget.  

     So if you turn to my evidence, Exhibit A6, tab 8, schedule 1, paragraph 12, "other expenses” includes travel and entertainment, membership fees, stationery supplies, including tapes used for back-up and system-recovery purposes. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, very much.     

     MR. DEWOLF:  So all of those costs are in there, as well.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Those are the questions? 

     I believe Mr. Sommerville has some questions. 

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very briefly, Mr. DeWolf, just with respect to the allocation methodology related to the EFS system.  I understood you to say that you're not intimately familiar with the allocation methodology, per se.  Is that a fair statement? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct, other than what has been done inside that report from Deloitte that I reviewed, whereby they go through the number of users on each application of the system to determine what should have been allocated to us.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:   It appears as though 73 percent of the costs associated with EFS are allocated to other users. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That is correct. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you know who they are? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  They would be the pipelines organization in Edmonton; they would be the transportation south division, which is our operations that operates out of Houston; and they would be other smaller parts of the Enbridge organization, international, and each one of those where the accounting gets done.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So right across, really, the whole spectrum --

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- of companies that would be using the financial system.  Thank you.

     With respect to the allocation methodology for the corporate cost allocations, you indicated - and I just wanted to be sure that I have this right - that you did not personally review the time allocations that were undertaken by Deloitte.  Did you vet, question, analyze or review the time allocations that Deloitte made, with respect to the items that you've signed off for? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  I looked at the allocations that were directly assignable to me. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes. 

     MR. DEWOLF:  And determined whether they were reasonable or not.  And where I thought that they were unreasonable, and I'd have to go back to my notes to see whether there were any of those, but -- that where there were costs and estimates that were in there that I felt were different than what I felt was reasonable and what I was receiving, I pushed back and asked for clarification on those.  And in some cases those changed.  

     And there is a piece of evidence someplace that shows, and if you wish, we can turn it up, that shows the original numbers that came through and the final numbers.  And they're -- actually for IT there is a change of an amount, where the original allocation was changed down due to my going over the services.  But I did not go back to ask, Give me exactly the time, because, to a large degree, this is for 2006, so they're using their 2004 numbers to estimate what they're going to be doing in 2005 and 2006.   And for all intents and purposes, in IT that could be different, depending on what projects we're doing and others.  So it was more of a reasonableness look to say, Understanding the projects I'm going to be doing in 2006, are these allocations appropriate? 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I would be interested, if you could highlight that piece of evidence that -- you can do that later, that's fine.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  Okay.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How long have you been using the Khalix system? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Ever since the EFS system went live, which I believe is in 2003.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So do I understand it correctly that Khalix is a subset of EFS? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct.  It's one of the components, as is Necho.  It consists of three components:  Oracle, Necho and Khalix. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And if I understood your evidence correctly, in chief you indicated that the Khalix system offered you enhanced ability to provide comparable budgets.  Is that right?  So you could compare budgets between time-frames -- 

     MR. DEWOLF:  That's correct. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- is that right?  So that capability, did that arrive when you started to use the Khalix system? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  We started -- the functionality was there.  Our ability and understanding of how to use it grew over time, again, as we got used to using it.  Originally, like in most IT implementations, you tend to use the application the same way you used your old one, especially if it’s doing the same kind of functionality, but just in a different way.  But then, as we understood the power of it, we started using it more and --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So when would the first year be that you actually used the Khalix architecture for your budget process? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  It would have been -- I would believe it would have been the 2004 budget, because 2003 is when it went live.  But I would have to check where we were on that budgeting process.  I know we went live in March.  Our year-end would have been October, and we may have already been starting the process.  So it may have been part in one and part in the other. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Part of 2003? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Well, part of 2004, because, since we went live in March, the 2004 budget would have started in October.  We would already have had to be working on.  I'd have to go back and check to see what evidence we’d already submitted at that time.  So 2004 may have been a hybrid of different things, but definitely 2005 was completely done within.  

     The interrogatory that I was referring to previously is School Energy Interrogatory 21, which would be Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 21, on page 4 of 6.   

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the specific line that you would like me to look at in that regard? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  So there are a couple, one of which is line 6, CIO General Admin. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's on page 3? 

     MR. DEWOLF:  Which is on page 3, yes, sorry.  

     MR. DEWOLF:  And there’s a decrease of -- column 7 is what I believe is the percentage in the allocation to the service, which for the CIO office was minus 3 percent in that case.  The Necho one was minus two.  Consolidation system planning for Khalix, which is line 9, was minus two.  Line 11, financial system accounting, technical support, again, was minus two.


Then if you turn to the next page, corporate IT operations, you see in column 8 there is a reduction of minus 20 percent, and IT support maintenance, again, minus 16 percent.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Before we break for lunch, I would like to remind everyone to please, when they return from lunch, put their cell phones, BlackBerries, computers on silent mode so as not to disturb us.  


The panel is released.  Thank you very much for your participation.  We will break until 1:30. 


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.   

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Are there any preliminary matters, before we start?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. STEVENS:  Just one, Madam Chair.  In our review of the transcript yesterday, I believe we’ve identified that there is one undertaking that was mischaracterized, and we were hoping just to correct it on the record.  I've spoken with Mr. Millar and Mr.  Battista about it, and they're agreeable to doing it this way. 



     So it’s volume 16 of the transcript, at page 31, Undertaking J16.2.  And it should read "provide business case for fuel-cell technology".  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Stevens.   Are you ready to introduce your panel?

     MR. STEVENS:  I am, thank you.

     This operations and maintenance budget panel is here to speak to issue 9.1.4, which is the budget for legal, regulatory and public affairs.  The persons present are Mark Boyce, who is the Associate General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, Patrick Hoey is the Director of Regulatory Affairs, and Debbie Boukydis, who is Manager, Public and Government affairs.  

     I believe that only Ms. Boukydis is unsworn at this point.  

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION WITNESS PANEL NO. 13

Mark Boyce; Previously sworn.

     Patrick Hoey; Previously sworn.  

     Debbie Boukydis; Sworn.    

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Stevens. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.       

EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:

     MR. STEVENS:   Just, with your leave, I’ll begin with some brief direct examination. 

     Beginning with you, Mr. Boyce, can you please confirm that the evidence of the company for the corporate security and law department, which is pre-filed at Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 2, was prepared by you, or under your direction and supervision?  

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. STEVENS:  And the responses to the interrogatories on that issue, were they similarly prepared by you or under your supervision? 

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, they were. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And is the company's evidence on these issues accurate, to the best of your knowledge? 

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. STEVENS:   And do you adopt this evidence for the purposes of your evidence here today? 

     MR. BOYCE:  I do. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Hoey, would you please confirm that the evidence of the company for the regulatory affairs department, which is pre-filed at Exhibit E6, tab 7, schedule 4, was prepared by you, under your direction or supervision? 

     MR. HOEY:  That is correct. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And have you reviewed the company's evidence titled “Legal, Regulatory and Public Affairs", which is found at Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 1? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And have you reviewed the responses to the interrogatories on these issues filed by the company? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have.   

     MR. STEVENS:   And is the company's evidence on these issues accurate, to the best of your knowledge? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. STEVENS:   And do you adopt this evidence for the purposes of your testimony today?

     MR. HOEY:  I do. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     And Ms. Boukydis, finally, would you please confirm that the evidence of the company for the public and government affairs department, which is pre-filed at Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3, was prepared under your direction and supervision? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And have you reviewed the company's evidence which is titled “Employee Communications” that is found at Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 5? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, I have. 

     MR. STEVENS:   And have you reviewed the responses of the company to the interrogatories on these issues?

     MS. BOUKYDIS:   Yes, I have. 

     MR. STEVENS:   And is the company's evidence on these issues accurate, to the best of your knowledge? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. STEVENS:   And do you adopt this evidence for the purposes of your testimony today? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  I do. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     If we could begin, please, by having each of you briefly describe the role of your department within Enbridge Gas Distribution, starting with you, Mr. Boyce. 

     MR. BOYCE:  Certainly.  I can speak to the corporate security and law department.  We provide legal advice and counsel in many areas of the law, and we also supervise external law firm work and external law firm billings.  We provide corporate secretarial services for Enbridge Gas Distribution, particularly as it relates to the Enbridge Gas Distribution board and audit committee.  And we also provide general security services for Enbridge Gas Distribution, primarily to ensure the security of the company’s assets and employees.   

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. 

     Mr. Hoey?

     MR. HOEY:  My responsibilities are for all the regulatory matters with regard to the OEB and the NEB that the company participants in.  That includes main rate case filings, leave to construct, QRAMs, other generic proceedings and any other paper that comes from the Ontario Energy Board.  

     Also, I work with the business strategies in ensuring the business strategies align with the regulatory requirements and considerations.  

     MR. STEVENS:  And Ms. Boukydis? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  The public and government affairs department, on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution, helps ensure that our key stakeholders, including employees, customers, customer interest groups, provincial and municipal levels of government, Canadian community and industry groups, have the information that they need to make informed decisions.  In particular, we develop strong municipal government relations with elected and non-elected decision-makers.  Long-term positive relationships and open communication allow us to inform government of the significant impact decisions may have on Enbridge Gas Distribution and its ratepayers.  

     Public and government affairs is also responsible for managing the production and delivery of information to our more than 1.7 million customers.  Topics of communications to customers include safety, energy efficiency, billing options, the natural gas market in Ontario and Enbridge Gas Distribution's natural gas prices.  

     Our group also develops community investment strategies that allow us to fulfil our commitment to building strong communities in our franchise area.  

     We also provide media relations support to Enbridge Gas Distribution, and ensure an appropriate level of crisis communication preparedness.  

     And finally, the employee communication group works to foster strong communications between Enbridge Gas Distribution and its employees.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

     Back to you, Mr. Boyce.  Can you please outline the legal department's budget for the fiscal 2006 year, and briefly discuss the drivers and the variances from the estimate for the 2005 year.  

     MR. BOYCE:  Certainly.  The law and corporate security department's budget for fiscal 2006 is $1,829,395.00.  This represents a decrease of approximately $423,000 from our estimate for fiscal 2005.  

     The corporate security budget will increase to $325,000, from $274,000.  

     The primary variances between fiscal 2006 budget and the fiscal 2005 estimate are an increase of approximately $11,000 in salaries and expenses, which is driven by a wage increase of 3.5 percent; an increase of approximately $30,000 for external contract-service providers for the corporate security function, which is primarily driven by the need to perform an increased number of physical security audits; as well as a reduction of approximately $435,000 in costs charged by Enbridge Inc. to our department, as a result of the new RCAM methodology, which allocates Enbridge Inc. charges differently than in the past.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. 

     And the same question for you, Mr. Hoey.        

     MR. HOEY:  For fiscal 2006, the budget for regulatory affairs is $12,606,089, and that is an increase of approximately 4.8 million.  The main variances that are involved there are, first, $3.8 million increase due to the allocations from the Ontario Energy Board to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  There is another $600,000 for the parties involved in the hearing processes in front of the Ontario Energy Board expected in 2006, so that's both the company's legal costs and the intervenors' costs and other costs associated with hearing proceedings.  

     There is $145,000 increase in salaries.  A little more than half of that reflects an increase of one staff member.  The remainder is 3.5 percent increase in salary.  

     And the -- in addition, we have a new charge from -- allocations from Enbridge Inc. for services based through the RCAM that are received through the regulatory affairs department.  

     MR. STEVENS:  And Mr. Hoey, could I also ask you to speak very briefly for the legal regulatory and public affairs overall budget for senior employees which is found at Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 1?  

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  The budget for that particular group, for fiscal 2006, is $663,000.  That represents an increase of about $15,000 over 2005 estimate and -- which is less than 3 percent.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Hoey, at times in this hearing we've heard the suggestion from intervenors that the company's filing and budget for the fiscal 2006 year have been prepared in anticipation of incentive regulation.  As director of regulatory affairs, with oversight responsibility for the rate case, what is your response to this suggestion? 

     MR. HOEY:  This rate case was based upon a cost-of-service filing.  The company is aware that there was possibilities of incentive regulation, but at the time we were putting the filing together the Board was completing its report on the Natural Gas Forum and it was inappropriate to speculate what might come from the Natural Gas Forum, what kind of model may or may not arise, and whether there would be a model for incentive regulation.  So the whole case was based upon a true cost of service filing, no reflection of incentive regulation in the future. 


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Ms. Boukydis, what's the public and government affairs budget for the fiscal 2006 year and what are the drivers of the variances in that budget from the 2005 estimate?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  The budget for fiscal 2006 is $6,013,000.  This represents an increase of approximately $950,000 for our estimate for fiscal 2005.


The main variances between fiscal 2006 budget and the fiscal 2005 estimate are:  First, an increase of approximately $60,000 in salaries and expenses, which is driven by a wage increase of 3.5 percent, along with the transferring of costs of two summer employees working with our community events team; the second driver, an increase of 267,000 for customer communication, which relates to the printing and mailing costs to reach an additional 50,000 customers, the printing and development of three new bill inserts, two focussed on safety, "Call Before You Dig", and one on natural gas markets to help customers understand how the natural gas markets work, customer choice and the role of the utility.  


There's also an increase in advertising dollars to help improve the reach of important safety messages in gas price information to our customers.


The community investment budget has increased by 129,000, which is primarily an increase of $100,000 to be paid by Enbridge Gas Distribution in support of the winter warmth fund.  The government media relations budget is increased by $100,000 with the addition of two new programs.  


First, the utility has increasingly taken on a role conducting research and white papers to assist in the development of provincial government policy that directly impacts our customers.  This program is a focussed initiative that will bring public policy knowledge and experience from other jurisdictions to the policy dialogue in Ontario.  


The second program looks to build six regional team networking events to reach more than 60 key municipal stakeholders in central region of our franchise where 70 percent of the 50,000 customer additions will take place in 2006.


 Lastly, an additional 406,000 is to be paid to Enbridge Inc. as a corporate cost allocation as a result of the new RCAM, which allocates EI charges differently than in the past.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Finally, Ms. Boukydis, what is the budget for employee communications for 2006, and how has this changed from the budget estimate for 2005?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  The budget for fiscal 2006 is $484,925.  This represents an increase of approximately $138,000 from our estimate fiscal 2005.  This increase is related to allocation for costs for Enbridge Inc.  The reason for the increase, again, is a new RCAM which allocates Enbridge Inc. charges differently than in the past.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, those are our questions for the panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Can I get a sense from the intervenors of who would like to question this panel, order and the length of time you might take, although with your lengths of time I might just double it.


MR. DEROSE:  I believe I am up first, Madam Chair, and I will be quick.  I would expect certainly less than 15 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, your cynicism notwithstanding, I will of course estimate eight hours just to...

     I am going to actually take the lead on this one.  I will be about an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  
Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm assuming that Mr. Shepherd will be his usual thorough self and that I will not have to ask more than half an hour's worth of questions, possibly less.  But it's Friday and I know where we all are.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DEVELLIS:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  I expect 15 minutes, as well.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. DeRose.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DEROSE:

MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  I'm going to be asking you some questions about the process by which you came to the corporate cost allocation within your particular departments, and before I go there, though, I would like, just as a high level understanding, do you agree that EGD's ratepayers should not bear costs that are incurred to either, one, benefit EI, not EGD, or, two, that arise simply because of EGD's status as an affiliate?


MR. HOEY:  Sorry, could you repeat the -- certainly the last part of the question again?


MR. DEROSE:  Sure.  I can do it in two parts, if you like. 


MR. HOEY:  Sure.


MR. DEROSE:  Should EGD ‑‑ do you agree that EGD ratepayers should not incur costs or should not bear costs that are incurred for the benefit of EI?


MR. HOEY:  And the part I'm having difficulty with is what you would define as benefits to EI.


MR. DEROSE:  Well, I would suspect ‑‑ I don't want to get into a debate with you.  I'm at a high level, theoretical state here.


On a fact-by-fact scenario, I think we can debate whether any particular line item is or is not a benefit to EI.  But do you agree that costs that are incurred for the benefit of EI should not be paid by an EGD ratepayer?  I didn't think that this would be controversial, Mr. Hoey.


MR. HOEY:  Well, I guess it's how you view it, and I know how other witnesses have answered it.  So at a very theoretical and general sense, I would say I can generally agree.  However, my only caveat to that is that the costs that are paid by ratepayers include the rate of return, which is a benefit to EI shareholders.  So I kind of disagree with at least a portion of it, of the concept in itself.


MR. DEROSE:  I'm happy to limit it to excluding the ROE that they receive as a shareholder.  You wouldn't say that EGD ratepayers should incur costs that EI or EGD incurs for the benefit of EI and not for ratepayers?  You wouldn't say that.


MR. HOEY:  I would say ratepayers should not incur costs ‑‑ ratepayers should incur the costs of the services that they need provided that EGD needs to use to provide them the services and to run the business.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Then the second part, Mr. Hoey is:  Should EGD ratepayers pay for costs that arise simply because EGD is an affiliate of EI, and, just to clarify that for you, costs that would not be incurred but for being an affiliate, so if you were -- if you remained a stand‑alone entity, costs that you would not incur?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, I would ‑‑ I could agree with that.  EGD is a stand‑alone company.  If they incur the costs, then, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  In that case, I'm going to turn to the legal budget.  As I understand it, your budget is about $1.8 million, of which the corporate cost allocation is $863,000; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  That's correct, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  And just in terms of the evidence, A6, tab 7, schedule 2, page 3 of 6, on table 1 you have your department budget, and, as a line item, you have costs charged to affiliates.


Can you just explain what are those costs that you charge to affiliates?


MR. BOYCE:  Certainly.  It's primarily corporate secretarial services, but some legal advice, that are provided to affiliates, largely those that are situated in eastern Canada, although I should add that St. Lawrence Gas is one of the affiliates that we provide services to, as well.  So in this regard, I'm talking about companies like Gazifère, St. Lawrence Gas, Enbridge Gas New Brunswick.


MR. DEROSE:  But those aren't services that you're providing to Enbridge Inc.?


MR. BOYCE:  No.


MR. DEROSE:  If I can ‑‑ I'm going to ask some questions about an interrogatory from VECC, VECC number 119.  If you could take that out, it might be helpful to you.


MR. BOYCE:  I have that, yes.


MR. DEROSE:  First of all, as I understand it, what you have listed in that interrogatory are the services ‑‑ are the legal services which EI provides to EGD to supplement EGD's legal department; is that right?


MR. BOYCE:  That's how I understood the question, yes, when I was answering this.


MR. DEROSE:  And so you have listed six areas there, and those are the services -- those are the legal services you receive from EI?


MR. BOYCE:  Legal services, and I would say there is an element of corporate secretarial to this, as well.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  I have some questions about each of them.  The first is implementation of Enbridge‑wide corporate policies.  Is that not something that but for being an affiliate, Enbridge Gas Distribution would not have to do?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, many of these policies are policies that, if, for example, Enbridge Gas Distribution were a stand‑alone, widely-held company, Enbridge Gas Distribution would need policies of a similar nature, in any event, such as a statement on business conduct, a whistle-blower policy, an Internet policy. 


So these are things that we have received assistance from Enbridge Inc. in drafting, and if we hadn't received that assistance, we would have had to do these things ourselves.


MR. DEROSE:  And have you undertaken any type of review or exercise whereby you went through the corporate cost allocation and said, Well, this is what Enbridge Gas Distribution would have had to have done, but these particular policies, over here, we really wouldn't have, other than being an affiliate. 

     MR. BOYCE:  Sorry, I just want to make sure I understand the question clearly.  You're asking me if I -- are you asking me if I've done any specific review of what it would have cost EGD to implement these policies on its own? 

     MR. DEROSE:  That's fine, if you can answer that question.  

     MR. BOYCE:  The answer to that question is, no, not a specific review on these specific policies. 

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Then if I can go to the second one.  EI has negotiated discounted fees with national law firms.  As I understand it, EGD at times uses law firms that are not national law firms.  Is that right? 

     MR. BOYCE:  That's correct, yes. 

     MR. DEROSE:  And so, although there would be some savings with the national law firms, I take it that you recognize that you are also negotiating with Ontario-only law firms.  Is that correct? 

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  We use both types of firms. 

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  The third one, ensuring consistency of legal approaches employed by all Enbridge law departments.  I take it if you were not an affiliate you wouldn't have to worry about consistency with other law departments.  Is that right? 

     MR. BOYCE:  If we were not affiliated with Enbridge Inc., that's correct.  But there are, I believe, good reasons why consistency of approach should be paid attention to.  The one example I can think of -- for example, when we try to develop standard-form consulting-services agreements -- for example, when we negotiate or arrive upon an indemnity clause in that agreement, that may be driven by insurance requirements.  And as you may be aware, we have an Enbridge-wide insurance program in place that EGD also benefits from.  And, as a participant in those programs, we have to ensure that approaches and agreements like this have to be consistent.

       MR. DEROSE:  Well, that's the reason why you have to.  But if you weren't an affiliate, that just wouldn't be an issue. 

     MR. BOYCE:  It wouldn't be an issue, but then we’d also be forced to acquire our own insurance coverage, as well. 

     MR. DEROSE:  But that would be an insurance issue, right? 

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Fourth, implementation of standardized corporate or secretarial processes.  Again, I take it that you wouldn't need to standardize your corporate or secretarial processes with Enbridge Inc. if you weren't an affiliate.  That’s something that you would have just done internally yourself.  

     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.  We wouldn't have to standardize approaches, but I believe we would incur substantially larger costs to run those kinds of systems ourselves if we were -- again, for example, a widely-held entity.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Fifth, ensuring the continuous disclosure of documents that relate to EGD are consistent with those of EI and are properly prepared.  

     Again, you would agree with me, if you were not an affiliate you would not be worried about making sure that your disclosure documents were consistent with EI.

     MR. BOYCE:  If we were not affiliated with EI, correct, we wouldn't concern ourselves with that consistency.  But, again, as with some of the other items we've already covered, our continuous disclosure program would be significantly more complex and expensive if we were running it ourselves.  

     MR. DEROSE:   And, from a ratepayer perspective, why is it important to an Ontario Enbridge Gas Distribution ratepayer that the disclosure documents provided from EGD are consistent with those of EI?  Why would that be important to one of your ratepayers? 

     MR. BOYCE:  Well, I think the possibility of shareholder legal proceedings would be out there.  If, for example, our disclosure on lawsuits were inconsistent and if those are lawsuits arising out of the operations of EGD, and EGD were a widely-held entity, those would be the kinds of things that EGD would have to take a great deal of time and care to do on its own.

     MR. DEROSE:  Perhaps I've lost you there.  That explains why you would want EGD's disclosure documents to be prepared properly.  I agree with you, that EGD's disclosure documents should be prepared properly.  What I don't understand is why it's important that they're consistent with EI's.  

     MR. BOYCE:  Well, again, we don’t -- EGD does not have public shareholders.  It makes sense -- I don't think it is a stretch to say it makes sense for a wholly-owned subsidiary to ensure that its continuous disclosure documents are not inconsistent with those of its parent.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     I'm going to move to public affairs now.  

     On page 1 of your evidence, which is A6, tab 7, schedule 3, you've indicated that one of the primary areas of accountability are working to inform and influence government on public policy issues and activities.  And you've referred, in some of your evidence, to two examples, one being municipal permit fees and the other being storage regulation; is that correct?

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's right.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Do you have -- do you keep a running list or a database of which public policy issues you attempt to influence government on? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, actually, I do.  That’s part of my scorecard, where we track the legislative issues influenced.  So if there’s an issue that would arise on a monthly basis, that would be tracked.  

     MR. DEROSE:   Okay.  And those score cards aren't part of the evidence, are they? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  No, they're not.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Are there any confidentiality issues or reasons why that could not be put on the public record? 

     MR. HOEY:  Mr. DeRose, maybe I could answer.  The scorecard that Ms. Boukydis is talking about is a personal scorecard, for compensation purposes.  So -- 

     MR. DEROSE:  Is there -- does the company keep a list or a database, other than a scorecard for personal compensation reasons, that keeps track of what issues your department is attempting to influence government on? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Does that list -- would that list contain anything confidential that couldn't be put on the public record? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  I suppose there might be issues that could be related to competitive advantage.  If there's some issues that we are working on that could -- I suppose, if -- we have a variety of stakeholders and some stakeholders may not support a position that we would be taking on an issue.  So for that reason, if it was going to be for public disclosure, that would --

     MR. DEROSE:   Okay.

     MS. BOUKYDIS: -- be uncomfortable.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Would I be -- I'm going to ask for an undertaking that you provide that list.  If you review it and you have confidentiality concerns what I would suggest is that's something that your counsel could raise at that time.  It doesn't sound like that is something we can address right now.  

     And let me just put on the record our rationale for this.  Depending -- I expect that you attempt to influence government on a variety of public policy issues.  You’ve said that.  And some of those issues may be directly related to ratepayers, and I would expect that they would be.  But others may be related, in our mind -- or, from our perspective, really, to EI.  And we’d just simply like to have a list of those issues which you're attempting to influence government on.  So would we be able to have that undertaking subject to --
     MR. STEVENS:  As long as we have an opportunity to review it, beforehand, and, if necessary, address any confidentiality concerns.  If it's okay, we’d first address them with Mr. DeRose, and if a resolution can't be reached, we would address it with the Panel. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Sounds fine.  

     MR. STEVENS:   Thank you.

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Undertaking J17.8.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.8:  TO PROVIDE A LISTING OF THE

EFFORTS OF EGD’S DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS OR 
PUBLIC AND GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS TO INFORM OR INFLUENCE 
GOVERNMENT OPINION, SUBJECT TO REVIEW FOR 

CONFIDENTIALITY CONCERNS. 
     MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  And I think, just for the record --

     MR. BATTISTA:  J17.8.  

     MR. DE ROSE:  -- just for the record, what we would like is a list or a printout of the database which contains or identifies all issues and activities which public affairs or public and government affairs has undertaken in an attempt to inform or influence public policy issues.  

     MR. STEVENS:  You're looking for this for the 2005 year? 

     MR. DE ROSE:  Yes.  Unless you have a forward-looking list of issues that you’re already planning on, I would like it for 2005.  

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Okay.  

     MR. DE ROSE:   And I’ll ask the question:  Do you have such a list for 2006 already? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  No.  Public policy unfolds as it does, so issues come forward --
     MR. DE ROSE:  I would expect that.  And now, that being said, would you agree that -- year-over-year, are the issues generally -- some issues would be recurrent and others wouldn't? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Very much so.  The permit fee issue is something that recurs.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And just because I do realize that you will be giving us the undertaking, but in all likelihood we won't have a chance to ask you questions about that, so I am just going to ask you on two issues just to see whether you have done anything on that.


Have any of the issues addressed to government related to ROE or rate of return?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  No, they haven't.


MR. DEROSE:  Have any of the issues related to incentive regulation?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  No, they haven't.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay, thank you.  In your evidence, you refer ‑‑ there's a heading ‑‑ perhaps I can take you at this point to your evidence, Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3, page 7 of 14.  Table 1 there lists community investment and community events.


Can you explain to me, what is the difference between community investment and community events?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Certainly.  Community investment is the dollars or is the budget that we have that -- this is the dollars that we use to invest in the communities where we invest -- or, I'm sorry, where our franchise is.  So that would be -- that's specifically sponsorships.  


When we're looking at community events, that is a separate department that supports our municipal relations strategy.  So this department, there's six people in this department.  We get a number of requests from municipalities to just go into the communities where we are expanding, where our franchises are being renewed, and we need to support the community events that are requested by the municipal councillors or mayors.


MR. DEROSE:  Can you give me an example of what a community event would be?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, certainly I could.  We could take a look at the Winterlude in Ottawa.  That's an annual event.  There are a number of municipal politicians, government leaders, decision makers who attend this, a number of our community -- I guess the community groups.  So we would go there.  We would actually cook breakfast or lunch, or whatever was asked.


MR. DEROSE:  And as part of the community events, do you have ‑‑ is it Enbridge employees out there cooking the breakfast or is it that you will simply give a sum of money to assist the community event?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Our community events are -- there's a presence for us in the community, so it is our Enbridge employees who are in the community meeting the decision makers, meeting municipal councillors and other community leaders.


MR. DEROSE:  So is my understanding correct that the difference is that community events, you actually have Enbridge employees out at the event undertaking some sort of activity, whereas sponsorship you're simply cutting a cheque?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  No.  No, no.  The first part is correct.  It is our employees who are in the community visiting and meeting with municipal councillors.  In terms of our community investment, it is not about cutting a cheque, it's about looking for opportunities where we can invest in our communities.  


So if I was to look at -- if I could give you an example of perhaps the Enbridge stair climb, which is something we sponsor, that is not about cutting a cheque.  That is about involving our employees and other community leaders to be able to raise dollars that then go back into the community agencies in the GTA.


MR. DEROSE:  Well, let me ‑‑ I will work backwards, then.  I will talk about your sponsorship program.


Is my understanding right that when you choose to sponsor an activity in exchange for donating a certain amount of money, the EGD name will be put on certain posters or banners or programs or T‑shirts?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's correct.


MR. DEROSE:  And so part of the purpose of this is to get Enbridge Gas Distribution's name out there?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, part of it is, but when we look at a sponsorship, that is tied to our municipal government relations strategy.  So we would confer with the general managers in our franchise area and determine where we want to be investing in the communities, where it makes sense from a franchise renewal, from a new community standpoint.


Part of our objective, in terms of investing in the communities, is to give back to communities where we operate, to -- in most part, we would look for sponsorships that would allow us to have an opportunity to be part of the community.  The second part is that it would be recognized as an Enbridge Gas Distribution investment in a community.


MR. DEROSE:  And who makes the decision of what events to sponsor and what events not to sponsor?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, as I was saying, we have an overall municipal government relations strategy.  So my group would make the decision, along with the general managers.


We get probably a couple of thousand requests a year, and what we do is we prioritize the communities where we are and where we operate, so we'll make a determination on an overall strategy as to where we should be.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And as I understand it, the sponsorship amounts are paid for 100 percent by ratepayers.  There's no ‑‑ Enbridge Inc. doesn't contribute to it.  There is no shareholder contribution; correct?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's correct.


MR. DEROSE:  Although every event you've listed, I certainly don't take issue with them being good things for various people to sponsor, what is your rationale for Enbridge Gas Distribution making a decision on behalf of ratepayers that these are the particular events that those ratepayers are going to sponsor?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, if we were to look at a recent study by the Schulick business school, nine out of ten Canadians support corporations being involved with the corporate social responsibility and being involved in the communities where we operate.


In terms of our community investment, we are very ‑- our decisions are made upon investing in the communities where it's going to make a difference for our ratepayers.  I've mentioned the stair climb where $1 million goes back into the communities, the community agencies and the GTA.  I could talk about our winter warmth fund that assists vulnerable customers.  We're looking, in 2006, at 720 families.  


So anything that we do, we go back into -- we ensure that it's benefiting the overall community.  On ‑‑


MR. DEROSE:  I don't take issue ‑‑


MR. STEVENS:  I don't think she is finished.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Just on another level, if I could, part of our community investment, too, is about building relationships with municipalities.  The importance -- we talk about permit fees a little bit.  The importance of having opportunities to build relationships with councillors, with mayors, with -- for the operations managers to be able to have opportunities to talk about our business so that they can understand, for instance, how our model franchise arrangement works.  These relationships do often offset any negativity we might have about wanting to generate other revenue sources from municipalities, like permit fees.


MR. DEROSE:  So, in part, these sponsorship activities are used to get access to municipal leaders and to politicians?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I don't know if we would call it access.  I would say that it is about building relationships, long‑term relationships, with decision makers, and this two-way communication is very effective, because as long as ‑‑ if municipal councillors and those decision makers who could be making policy that could negatively impact our ratepayers, if they have an opportunity to be meeting with our operations people and understanding how our business works, we have found ‑‑ we have definitely found this has ‑‑ this benefits -- overall benefits the ratepayer by having these solid relationships.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  And you referred to a study from the Schulick Institute?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, I did.


MR. DEROSE:  Do you know whether that study would have just had corporate citizenship writ large, so corporations that are not publicly funded as opposed to regulated utilities?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I would have to ‑‑ I would have to check that, but in my recollection, my recollection is that it had to do with just investing in the communities, just overall companies taking responsibility for some social programs.


MR. HOEY:  Just one ‑‑ Mr. DeRose, I just want to make it clear Enbridge is not a publicly-funded company.  It is a privately-funded company by its shareholder investors, just like any other privately-funded company that's on the Toronto Stock Exchange.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  I will rephrase the question.  Were these corporations utilities that were publicly regulated with ratepayers and shareholders?  I think your answer was you don't know?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I would have to check that.


MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  The final question, if I can turn you to the customer, industry and community relations.  This starts on page 5 and carries on to page 6.


Is my understanding correct that this is ‑- this seems to me to be pretty similar to community investment and community events, but it's being run by EI instead of by EGD; is that right?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  It's similar ‑‑ sorry, could you repeat that?


MR. DEROSE:  This looked to be the EI version of what you have described in community investment and in community events.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, this is much broader than just community events and community investment, if you're looking at the services that are provided by Enbridge Inc.

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay. Well, could you explain that to me?  

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  The allocation, if we were to -- if we could look to page 6, talks about a number of things, including the time that the CEO of the company and other senior people in Enbridge Inc. work in other jurisdictions on behalf of the corporation.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  If I could take you to page 6, then, the third bullet, this is talking about the Group VP Corporate Resource Department.  

     And it lists coordinating and funding national events and fund-raising activities on behalf of EGD in Ontario, such as the Tsunami relief, for funding for the Ontario -- in Ontario of the Toronto Rehabilitation Institute or the Dominion Institute of the National Arts Centre, Ottawa.  For instance, the National Arts Centre, Ottawa, what was that? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, if I could just -- if I could clarify.  Enbridge Gas Distribution has a community investment strategy, and the dollars are used to benefit the ratepayers in Ontario alone.  

     Enbridge Inc., what we're talking about here is an overall national strategy, where there are times, I believe, that they will support events across all of their companies that might overlap somewhat.  You know, as the parent they might be supporting something in Ontario, but overall, their strategy is set by the corporate office.  

And there's similarities in terms of our giving, but they're very different in terms of the focus.  As I say, the one community investment budget in Ontario focused just in Ontario for the ratepayers.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you can illustrate this with an example so I can understand it better.  And it says at the end of -- again, I'm at Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3, page 6 of 14, third bullet from the top.  And it lists the National Arts Centre, Ottawa.  It lists the Dominion Institute.  And it says:   

          “All of these activities undertaken by EI on 

behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution add to the 

image of Enbridge Gas Distribution as a 

community aware utility.”  

     So let's talk about the National Arts Centre.  What was that? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  I would have to check that.  I don't know what the specific sponsorship is for this one.  

     MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Madam Chair.  We've been going through different corporate cost allocation issues today with Mr. Boyce and with Mr. DeWolf, and I think that’s perfectly legitimate because they signed the service schedules and they are the service recipients identified, and they weren’t on the panel that dealt with this in corporate cost allocation several weeks ago.     
On the other hand, the issues we're going through now with Ms. Boukydis are issues for which Mr. Neiles was the service recipient, issues about which he has already spoken and given evidence.  I think we're going to end up taking a lot of time going through these things that have already been dealt with, and I hope we don't have to do that.  

     And just by way of example, I could point out that the issue Mr. DeRose is discussing right now, by my reading of the evidence, the allocation to the Group VP Corporate Resources Department under “customer, industry and community relations” totaled $17,000.  So we're not talking about something that is really grand in the scheme of this case.  

     MR. DEROSE:  I had about two more questions, but I’m -- it’s in the evidence and I was simply asking, What did you do at the National Arts Centre?  We're trying to understand what EI is doing for EGD to promote its image in the community and -- but, with all due respect, I think this is the right panel to answer --
     MR. STEVENS:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think the witness answered that question.  If you have further questions, hopefully they're very brief.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Well, one follow-up question.  

     As a matter of practice -- well, two questions.  As a matter of practice, I take it you would be given notice that these events are going on? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.  

     MR. DEROSE:  And as a matter of practice, will you look at what the event is and ask the Group VP Corporate Resource Department of EI to ever justify whether this is or is not something of benefit to EGD? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  I don't believe that we would ask whether or not there would be a benefit to EGD.  I think that the way it works, in terms of the sponsorships -- if Enbridge Inc. is sponsoring something within our franchise area that relates to an interest that they have, perhaps, at the federal government, by extension, that might benefit Enbridge Gas Distribution's reputation just as a good corporate citizen.  But those dollars are not coming from Enbridge Gas Distribution's budget, therefore, we wouldn't be asking them what they would be doing in terms of this type of a sponsorship.  

     MR. DEROSE:  But aren't they partially allocated to you? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, I see what you're saying.  But overall we do -- there is a national strategy that we understand.  I mean, in terms of questioning what they're doing, I would have to say "no". 

     MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Madam Chair, before we move on, if -- with your permission, I would like to excuse myself so I can catch a plane and get back to my family in Ottawa.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is he still allowed to do that, if he goes over time? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, he is.  

     Yes, Mr. DeRose.  Thank you.  

     Mr. Shepherd?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD: 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have prepared an exhibit, which my friends have had for the last week or so, and I am handing it up now to Board Staff.   

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Exhibit K17.2.  It will be characterized as “Consolidation, Legal, Regulatory and Related Budgets, 2004 to 2006.”  

EXHIBIT NO. K17.2:  CONSOLIDATION, LEGAL, REGULATORY 
AND RELATED BUDGES, 2004 to 2006.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   I’m sorry, Mr. Battista:  that was 17.2? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Oh, yes, K17.2.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, very much.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know who deals with the general level questions, but I will just put it to the panel and you know, fight amongst yourselves as to who answers them.  

     Let's start with line 27 of this.  By the way, you've seen these numbers before; yes? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, we have. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And these numbers are correct, as far as you know? 

     MR. HOEY:  I would say most of them.  I just don't know how one number has been calculated.  I was told how one number was calculated this afternoon, so I know how you calculated one number, but I didn’t know before then --
     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  Well, will you confirm that all of these numbers are from your evidence except for one, and that’s on line 75, the number $13.6 million.  Is that right? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  And, obviously, 76 and 77 that go with it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  And -- okay.  So -- well, we're going to get to line 75 in just a second.  So when we get to that, will you explain the extent to which you agree with that number.  All the other numbers are your numbers; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so I'm looking at line 72.  And this shows -- the columns, reading from left to right, are the number, the type of expenditure, 2004, and 2005 actual, the percentage increase from 2004 to 2005, then 2006 proposed, the percentage increase 2005 to 2006, and then the two-year increase.  Do you understand that? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  So I'm looking at line 72.  And it shows that from 2004 to 2005 there was actually quite a small increase in the budget in this area, just under 5 percent.  But from 2005 to 2006, I'm correct that you're proposing almost a 34 percent increase? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  That's the math calculation that’s there.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that math is correct; isn't it? 

     MR. HOEY:  34 percent is the differential between 16.4 million and 21.9 million, I would agree. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Now, of course, one particular area which we're going to get to in a second is the costs associated with your Ontario hearings and the Ontario Energy Board; right?   And that's an area of particular cost pressures for you; correct? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  That was $4.4 million.  It’s -- if you take the differential in line 73, between the 5.5 and the 9.9 that would be -- the total differential on 72, which is 5.5.  There's 4.5 right there.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So line 74, then, is your total costs, after backing out that particular cost pressure.  Right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.         

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that shows that you're still looking for a 10 percent increase -- more than 10 percent increase from current year actual to next year; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let's turn to line 75, then, and let's deal with that first figure.  Your Board-approved budget for 2003 was 13.4 million; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  Where are you getting that number from?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, I thought you would know it.  If you take a look at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 23, page 2.


MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your budget, the budget we're talking about now, is actually set out in lines 8, 9, 10 and 11 ‑‑ no, sorry, 9, 10, 11 and 12 of that chart on page 2; right?  That's the areas ‑‑


MR. HOEY:  I believe so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you look under 2003 Board‑approved and you add up those four figures, 6.6, 4.3, 2.1 and 0.4, I'm correct that you get 13.4; right?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, that's 13.4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's true that for 2004 you didn't have a Board‑approved break down of a budget, because you had an unusual rate proceeding; right?


MR. HOEY:  There was a different way of calculating rates, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the increase was 1.9 percent, wasn't it?


MR. HOEY:  For revenues, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So if you took 1.9 percent and added it to 13,400,000, you would get $13,600,000, wouldn't you?


MR. HOEY:  That would be the math, but that doesn't necessarily mean that that would be the Board-approved budget for the particular departments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But there wasn't a Board‑approved budget, was there?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the closest thing we've got, isn't it?


MR. HOEY:  I don't know what the budget was, so...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is true that the increase over the two years from that number, 13.6 to 21.9, is 61 percent, isn't it?


MR. HOEY:  That's what the math works out, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true that even if you back out your Ontario hearing costs and your OEB costs from that, you still have an increase over those two years of almost 44 percent; right?  


MR. HOEY:  That's what the math works out, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just take you back up to the top of this exhibit, to the section starting in line 1, salaries and expenses.


Mr. Hoey, at line 2, legal, regulatory and public affairs, that ‑‑ what this does is takes the categories of your expenses and aggregates them together for the entire department?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you understand that?  Okay.  So all your salaries and related expenses are together in one place.  And that line 2, legal, regulatory and public affairs, that's Mr. Neiles and his staff; right?


MR. HOEY:  His direct reports, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that is not all of his direct reports, right, because you're one of his direct reports?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's his direct reports that don't have their own departments?


MR. HOEY:  No, that's his direct reports.  My salary is not in my budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your salary is in his budget?


MR. HOEY:  It's in his budget, yes.  It's called fiscal control, so a person doesn't have control of their own salaries. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's interesting, because that -- the budget is $687,000 for 2006, and that includes Mr. Neiles ‑‑


MR. HOEY:  No, it doesn't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.


MR. HOEY:  As I told you, you never have your own salary in your own budget because of control purposes.  In any major corporation you are not allowed to do that, you have to have the one above you.  You can't control your own salary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then where is the cost of Mr. Neiles in the budget?


MR. HOEY:  That would have been in the -- give me a sec.  On K6.4, if you look at line 14, non‑departmental expense, corporate, that's where his budget would be -- his salary would be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  So all of the EMT are in that 10.1 million?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, learn something new every day.  Okay.


So then this is the -- this is all of Mr. Neiles' direct reports?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  He's not adding any direct reports, is he, next year?


MR. HOEY:  No.  What do you mean?  What do you mean next year, 2006?


MR. SHEPHERD:  2006, yes.


MR. HOEY:  Not for $15,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I'm seeing a 10-1/2 percent increase between 2004 and 2006.


MR. HOEY:  Well, that's the math, that's right.  But let's look at the total dollars.  The total dollars from the 2005 estimate to 2006 is a $15,000 increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total over the two years is $66,000?


MR. HOEY:  The total over the two years is 66, and that is a reflection of the actual.  And the actual is a reflection of what actually did happen in the year, and, in the particular year, there was a maternity and there were some other non‑continuous salary that happened for a period there.  So the 2005 estimate is assuming all of that staff is there the entire year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are any of the things in these lines 1 through 7 -- sorry, 2 through 7, are any of those items capitalized anywhere?


MR. HOEY:  I don't think we ‑‑ none of us capitalize any of our costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  That simplifies things enormously.  I wonder if we can go to line 5, then.  This is you, Ms. Boukydis?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're proposing an increase over two years of 13.3 percent in your budget.


I guess, you know, from the ratepayers' point of view, you have to ask the question:  Once you're out there doing -- you know, talking to government and that sort of thing, I mean, do you need more of it?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, could I just explain what that increase is?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  If we go to 2004, the increase from 2004 to 2005 are the salaries and expenses for two positions that were only there for eight months.  In 2005, those two positions were there for the 12 months, which accounts for the difference there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you added positions in 2004?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Those two positions were added in 2004, but they didn't start until half way through the year, so there is staff lag.  That is the difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, okay.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  And then between 2005 and 2006, what I said earlier is the 3.5 percent increase, and then there is just a transferring of the dollars for two summer students from another budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Whose budget?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  It was the community investment budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we will see a reduction in the community investment budget?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's right.  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  And the other area, of course, back to you, Mr. Hoey, is regulatory affairs, in which you had a 7 percent increase from 2004 to 2005, and you are proposing another 8 percent from 2005 to 2006.


Why is that?


MR. HOEY:  The total increase from 2005 to 2006 estimate is about $145,000.  As I mentioned in my direct evidence today, we have one additional staff add, and that accounts for more than 50 percent of that particular increase.  If you add the other half of it, is 3.5 percent salary adjustment for current staff levels.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me turn to the outside services section.  These are -‑ they're small dollar figures, but they seem to be very high percentage increases.


It looks to me -- I did a lot of budgeting a long time ago, and it looks to me like, in these small numbers, you just sort of picked a round number, is that right, something that looked reasonable?


MR. BOYCE:  I can speak to the legal portion, and, yes, $125,000 for 2005 appears to be a round number.  But it is where we believed we needed to be in order to acquire the level of services we project for 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 2006, the same thing?  You sat down and you actually did a detailed sort of calculation, What are we going to need hire people for?


MR. BOYCE:  What are we going to need?  What projects do we know are likely to occur?  Are any of our existing lawyers overworked?  Are we going to need some more outside services?  Inflation on law firm billing rates, those kinds of things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These numbers don't include anything like manufactured gas plant legal fees or class action, or any of those sorts of things; right?


MR. BOYCE:  None of those things, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We saw in regional operations that one of the things that happened in some of the ‑‑ I will come back to that.  Never mind.


Let's turn to the corporate cost allocations for just a moment.  I'm not going to spend a lot of time on it, but it is true that the 2004 and 2005 numbers are numbers based on CAM?


MR. HOEY:  As far as I know, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the Board-approved amounts were for 2004 and 2005, for corporate cost allocations? 

     MR. HOEY:  In 2005, the total Board-approved budget for O&M was 286.5, exclusive of DSM, and a portion of it was allocated -- 13.5 was allocated to corporate cost allocation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well I have, here, Exhibit K6.4.  You're familiar with this? 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, your section is lines 9 through 12.  That's what we're talking about here in these budgets.  

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD: And so I'm looking at column 8, and it appears to say that the Board-approved corporate cost allocation amount was 1.2 million.  Is that right? 

     MR. HOEY:  Well, I guess that's what I'm saying; it is not a Board-approved.  That is, as part of the settlement agreement it was apportioned out, by line, for budget-review processes, but it was not Board-approved on a line-by-line item basis.  The Board approval was for the entire $286.5 million, it was a total envelope amount.  But for budget-review process, I would agree that's the number, $1.2 million. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Yes, we've had this discussion before; right?  The chart that had these numbers in it was actually attached to the settlement agreement; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the settlement agreement was approved by the Board; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's right.  And the settlement agreement says, at the end, at the last sentence -- says that the chart that is done is for budget-review purposes only.  It doesn't say it’s Board-approved.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay, but that's what we're doing, we're reviewing your budget.  So anyway, 1.2 million is the only number we have relating to Board-approved, for this area, right, as opposed to the 2 million that you actually paid. 

     MR. HOEY:  It’s -- the 1.2 is what was allocated to the groups for 2005, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in 2004 and 2005, regulatory affairs and employee communications didn't have to bear any corporate cost allocation costs; right?  

     MR. HOEY:  There was none for regulatory affairs, yes, I agree.  And none for employee communications, I agree.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And those -- and that's because, under the CAM method, there are no costs charged to those particular departments; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  Well, I think it's because under the CAM method it wasn't done on a service-by-service basis, whereas RCAM is on a service-by-service basis.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You filed your budgets this year -- 

     MR. HOEY:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- showing what you were charged under CAM for 2004 and 2005, for all of your departments; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you weren't charged anything under CAM.  

     MR. HOEY:  There was nothing allocated under CAM to those particular departments, I agree.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, I take it that, for 2006, there will be nothing charged under CAM either.  

     MR. HOEY:  I don't know.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not getting any new services? 

     MR. HOEY:  Well, there are services defined under RCAM.  I'm not sure how it works.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But we've already identified, Mr. Hoey, that what you're actually paying EI is under the CAM system; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  That's my understanding. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so they're billing you for doing certain things for you, yes?  And you're paying.  

     MR. HOEY:  They’re -- the CAM methodology -- my understanding is it looks at departmental costs and allocates departmental costs.  It does not look at it on a service-by-service basis.  So the other way to look at it is that, under the CAM methodology, '04 and '05 ratepayers were receiving a service for which they didn't pay under the regulatory affairs department.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Could be.  And then under 2006 -- assuming CAM hasn't changed, under 2006 they're going to pay for a service that you don't actually have to pay EI for; right? 

     MR. HOEY:  I don't know, because I haven't seen what the results of CAM are and whether there is an actual allocation to regulatory affairs.  So I can't answer your question.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to tell us what the CAM numbers are for 2006 for regulatory affairs and employee communications?  

     MR. HOEY:  Well, I can't provide that to you because it's not done.  It won't be done until the end of the year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Have the services you're getting from EI changed between 2004 and 2006? 

     MR. HOEY:  I don't know.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know.  Then let me -- I'm going to skip cost charges to affiliates.  I got excited when I saw some big reductions, but I realized they were reductions in credit amounts.  

     And I want to go to customer communications.  I think you’ve touched on this briefly, but maybe you could just --it's counter-intuitive that over two years you would have a 60 percent increase in something you do on a regular basis and have done for years.  Why is that? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  If I could explain.  The increase in customer communications between 2004 and 2006 is about $710,000.  

     If I could go back.  Prior to 2004, we didn't do any advertising or, what I’d say, public service announcements in the media.  On an annual basis, perhaps, we would have one safety ad in the newspapers on “call before you dig.”  

     In late 2003, we had some customer research done which concerned us.  Primarily, we learned that we saw a decline in the percentage of customers who perceived Enbridge Gas Distribution to be committed to safety.  In 2001, that number was 73 percent.  And in 2002 -- I’m sorry, 2003, that had dropped to 64 percent.  So we recognized we needed to do something about our customer communications with respect to safety.  

     We also learned that the most top-of-mind issue for our customers was price and gas pricing, and the need to understand what was going on with that so they could make informed decisions about their billing options.  

     The third thing that we learned was that 65 percent of our customers read our bill inserts, which has been the primary way that we communicate to our customers.  However, 35 percent of our customers don't read them or discard them.  So I mean, obviously, what that means is that 35 percent of our customers are not reading important safety information.  

     The fourth thing that we discovered was that our customers asked us to be, asked us to -- looked at us as being the most credible source of information, and wanted to get this type of information from us.  

     We looked at this -- we put all of this together and looked at a different communication plan that did involve advertising.  It's a layered approach.  We still depend very much on our bill inserts, but we have two specific campaigns.  This is a layered approach to our communications.  

So twice a year, in the spring and in the fall, we run a safety campaign as well as a gas price campaign.  They're ads that are in the major dailies, as well as in the community papers.  At the same time our bill inserts reinforce the messages that our customer’s reading in the newspapers.  And then we put a special message on the back of the bill that would inform the customers that there's going to be safety or gas-pricing information.   

     So that has been a change in the way we communicate to our customers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess, and maybe this is just too simplistic, so you will correct me if it is, I would have thought that if you had a need to focus on a particular area like safety, for example, or whatever -- or to change your approach somewhat because you weren't quite getting to people -- which is, essentially, what happened; right? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That that would be a reprioritization.  You’d say, We’ve got a budget of 1.2 million, or 1.3 million, or whatever, we'll now reprioritize that budget to make it more efficient and target the things we need, rather than just say, Let's have some more money. 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, as I was saying, though, we were finding that the typical way that we were reaching our customers, which is somewhat effective, which is through the bill -- 65 percent we needed to increase.  And because safety is a priority and we were concerned, those safety ads we do run are focused on carbon monoxide and on “call before you dig”, which is a -- very concerning to us, particularly on the rise of third-party damages after 2003. 

     In terms of reprioritizing, the other thing that we do that is captured within the budget is a pipeline newsletter six times a year that focuses on, again, the other important things that we need to communicate to our customers, which is about billing options, equal-billing plan, where you should buy your gas supply.  

     We also -- we have to have money in the budget for rate notices, four to five per year, that’s $50,000 per rate notice.  

     As well as -- there’s an insert that we leave, a way for the Ontario Energy Board to be able to communicate, if necessary.  We have scratch and sniff, which is very important.  That's how we tell our customers what gas smells like.  In terms of --
     MR. SHEPHERD:   Excuse me.  Can I stop you for a second?

     MS. BOUKYDIS:   Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So far I haven't heard anything that’s new.  These are regular things you do every year; right? 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  Well, we’re talking about an increase now.

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  I'm talking about an increase, because we believed, given the customer research, that we weren't reaching our customers in the most appropriate method.  Some of these other things that I'm talking about are static, in terms of our rate notices and the safety inserts.  We were looking for a new way of being able to communicate to our customer without having to change what we were currently doing in terms of the regular bill inserts.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your customer communications weren't effective enough -- you tested -- you decided they weren't as effective as you wanted them to be. 

     MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And it's good that you try to make them more effective.  I get that. 

     But, instead of cutting back on the bill inserts and adding something else, or cutting back on the advertising and adding more bill inserts, you decided to keep everything that you had that wasn't working as well as you wanted and add more; is that right?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's correct, because we still do believe that the regular bill inserts, that communication is very important.  It is all related to safety.  It is not related to marketing, and we believe it is very important that we communicate to our customer.  It is less than a dollar per year, and our customers have told us that they do want to be communicated on these important issues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I promised myself I wouldn't ask this question, but I'm going to ask it anyway.  None of your customers are asking you for more bill inserts, are they?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Our customers may not be asking us for more bill inserts, but they are asking us -- they are asking on a regular basis -- our customer research shows that gas price is top of mind, that they want to learn more about markets.  They want to understand what they can do to control their gas bill. 


And we do know -- I mean, as an operator of safe, reliable natural gas, it is incumbent upon us to be able to deliver safety information to our customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Still sticking with you for just a second, in the "all other costs" section - you talked briefly about this with Mr. DeRose - a big chunk of that on line 61 is your community events and community investment budget; right?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I correct that you're not the only place where that spending takes place in the company?  There are many other people in the company that are spending money on those sorts of activities, within EGD?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  No.  The community investment budget falls within public and government affairs.  So that is the overall strategy that sets the community investment giving in our communities.


It is my understanding that there are some other parts of the company where there are very small amounts of dollars that are spent outside of the overall ‑‑ outside of our overall strategy or our overall giving strategy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Strategic and key accounts, for example, the people there are constantly out talking to people in the communities; right?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That relationship building you're talking about, that's a large part of their job, isn't it?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, the general managers and, to a certain extent, the OPs managers do the same sort of thing; right?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Schultz and the other members of the EMT are doing a lot of that, too, aren't they?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.  I would say that the difference between what you're referring to within the other departments and public and government affairs, we set the overall municipal government relations strategy for the company.  So we will sit down with our general managers in each of our franchises and we determine where the dollars are best spent to support their business activities.


So we determine this together.  We determine what communities we need to be in.  We develop contact plans on behalf of the -- or with the general managers, and then we support that through our community events and through our community investment.  There are times, I believe, that there might be -- a general manager might want to do something as a one‑off, such as a golf tournament or whatever, and they have dollars for that.  But the overall strategy is set by this group.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't approve all those other budgets?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  No, I don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not under your control?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  No, they're not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't know how much they are?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I wouldn't know exactly.  I did read the transcript about operations, but I don't know the exact number, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I would like to turn back to you, Mr. Hoey, and let's just talk about the regulatory budget by itself.


The total actual regulatory budget ‑‑ or regulatory spending for regulatory affairs in 2004 was 7.4 million; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in 2005 it was 7.8 million?


MR. HOEY:  That's the estimate for this year, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're proposing 12.6 million for next year?


MR. HOEY:  I should just correct that.  7.8 is the estimate of our total budget for the department, but it may end up being more than that due to regulatory proceedings here at the Board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. HOEY:  There may be additional costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The way your proceedings budget works is that you put in your budget for 2005 the cost of the 2005 hearing; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you already did that?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  Plus, any other hearing that would occur during the year within 2005 that wouldn't be attached to the main rate case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you might have -- like, you're involved in the Natural Gas Electricity Interface review.


MR. HOEY:  That's correct, we're funding.  So that will be 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And 2006, 12.6 is your estimate?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the one area where you have the absolute least control, we see on line 46, is the bill you get from the OEB; right?  They're not negotiating that with you?


MR. HOEY:  No, they're not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They send you the bill.  You pay it; right?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  That's what I've been told to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 6.8 million that you have in there for 2006, you called the Board and asked them what it was likely to be?


MR. HOEY:  No, I didn't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where did you get the number?


MR. HOEY:  The Board sent us a bill for the period of April 2004 through to April 2005 for three easy payments of approximately $2.1 million each.  So that gave us $6.2 million, and then given when I was putting this together back last December, last November, at the time I knew that the Board had not fully staffed itself, so I added an additional 10 percent for 2006.  That's how I came to $6.8 million.  So 6.2, the actual bill from the Board, plus 10 percent, for $600,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you get that bill?


MR. HOEY:  When did I get it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, just roughly.


MR. HOEY:  It was sent to us, I think, in August 2004.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have no indication that that 6.8 is right or not.  It is just a guess on your part?


MR. HOEY:  It is an educated guess.  The other piece that I don't know, I am aware that that is the fixed cost of the Board.  I am also under the understanding that the hearing days in the Board will draw some variable costs number - that's my understanding - and we haven't put any of that in yet.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's correct, isn't it, that if you backed out the OEB costs from your total regulatory budget, or your total regulatory actuals and budget, you would get 3.6 million for net regulatory budget for 2004, 4.8 million for 2005, and 5.8 million for 2006; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  Say those numbers again for me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  3.6 million for 2004, 4.8 million for 2005, and 5.8 million for 2006.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  Subject to check, yes, that seems about right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your regulatory cost, excluding the Board part, which I agree you have no control over, went up 33 percent from 2004 to 2005.  You're proposing they go up another 21 percent from 2005 to 2006; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the bulk of that is in the Ontario hearings line; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not all of it, but most of it.


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess -‑ and those are big increases.  And I guess perhaps you could describe why you think that's the case?


MR. HOEY:  My understanding, in 2005, that our Ontario hearing costs, including the Board, will cause us a debit balance in our variance account.  So the 2005 estimate is probably going to be wrong.  It's too low.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This 2.5?


MR. HOEY:  Well, the 2.5, plus the three ‑‑ the total dollar amount is wrong, so a portion of it ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm only asking, sorry, about line 54 right now.


MR. HOEY:  The 2.5, I don't know at this point in time if it is right or wrong at this point in time.  It could be right.  It could be wrong.  I haven't done an actual to date on the last rate case, plus what might be an estimate of intervenor costs and other costs associated with other proceedings this year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, most of your 2005, you already know the numbers, right, because it is for your 2005 rate case?


MR. HOEY:  Well, I would know what the rate case number would have been.  What I don't know is the ‑- I know that there is ‑‑ there's about four processes on right now in front of the Board where I may be funding for this year.  So I don't know what the bills are for that at this point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not going to be in the same league as your rate case, are they?


MR. HOEY:  I don't know. 
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you tried to budget them?  

     MR. HOEY:  No, I haven't.  Because I didn't even know they existed when I put the budget together.  That's why it's a variance account, because it is unforecastable. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's talk about that.  With respect 

to your rate case, you have a lot of control over that, don't you?  

     MR. HOEY:  In terms of what?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You decide how much you ask for, you decide what stance you take in ADR, how you respond to interrogatories, how you put up witnesses, et cetera; right?

     MR. HOEY:  I have some control over the process, I would agree. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You can make the process longer or shorter by the approach you take; right?  

     MR. HOEY:  I don't think so.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't think -- 

     MR. HOEY:  I don't think what Enbridge would do may or may not impact the length of the process. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't think the hearing is likely to be longer if you ask for 15 percent than if you ask for a 3 percent rate increase?

     MR. HOEY:  That's not been my experience.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The increase in Ontario hearings costs from 2005 to 2006, that's going to be largely driven by this rate case, isn't it?  

     MR. HOEY:  No.  There will be other processes.  The transactional methodology hearing that happened will be part of the 2006 rate case as well.  When we file the evidence on March 18th, I didn’t even know the proceeding was coming, by the time we got the ADR it had been finished.  I haven't seen the bills yet, but there will be a bill associated with all of that, those processes as well.  And that will be added into the 2006 rate case.  

     After we file, we found that the Natural Gas Forum identified up to seven proceedings, a number of them will happen in 2006.  They weren't forecasted inside the forecast that I have here.  

     I don't know the level of participation of intervenors; whether they would take a position, not take a position, how actively they will participate, not participate.  It varies.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you get that number, of 3,150,000?  

     MR. HOEY:  We took our estimate for 2005 and upped it by about $150,000 for intervenor costs, 150,000 for legal costs and 200,000 for our consultant costs.  

The reason why an increase in consultant costs is a little bit larger is that I felt if we were going to have any kind of incentive regulation plan that may come out of the Natural Gas Forum, there may be a need for additional consultants to look at different incentive regulation models or whatever that would be part of the evidentiary record for the rate hearing.  There also may be the need of a productivity analysis, and that will be a very expensive process.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You had no idea at that time that you would end up with a nine week hearing this year, did you?  

     MR. HOEY:  No, I did not.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When you went into this rate case -- I'm not asking you to disclose anything about your litigation strategy or anything like that, and please don't take my question in that direction, but when you went into this hearing, you were aware you were asking for a large increase in rates.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I was.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you expect that you would, therefore, have a significant amount of ratepayer resistance?  

     MR. HOEY:  I guess I didn't expect any less ratepayer resistance than any other increase or decreases the company -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You also raised a number of policy issues in consultations last fall, like, transactional services, DSM, and weather, and a whole bunch of stuff like that.  You knew at that time that those were very contentious between you and your stakeholders, isn't that right?  

     MR. HOEY:  Absolutely.  Because they -- from reading the previous settlement agreements, the parties had agreed to put them aside.  And then at some point, if you're going to bring them forward, you we knew whenever it was going to be it was going to be at some hearing and it was going to be a contentious issue. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The amounts that go in the Ontario hearing cost variance account, currently, are the amounts in line 46 on this schedule and 54.  Is that right?  

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's basically, although there are two categories here, there are actually sort of three categories; right?  There are the amounts you pay to the OEB, the amounts that you pay to your own lawyers and consultants and other outside costs associated with the various OEB processes you're involved in, and the amounts you pay to intervenors in cost awards.  Is that correct?  

     MR. HOEY:  I like to split it into four categories.  And that is the intervenor costs, legal, consultants and then other costs which are what I will call processing costs.  You know, publication in newspapers, notices, all of these binders that we have, all of those process costs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be the split of line 54, plus you would have the OEB bill as well?  

     MR. HOEY:  That would be the split of -- yes, those four categories for 54, plus the OEB.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So where I'm going with this, Mr. Hoey, is that I'm trying to understand why it's so much more difficult for you to budget some of these items than the other departments in your company that have lots of uncertainties of their own.  

     I guess, I'm sort of asking an open-ended question.  Why, for example, is it more difficult for you to judge how much you're going to pay your external lawyers than it is for operations to assess what they're going to have to pay to external lawyers, for instance?

     MR. HOEY:  I think the main difference is that, in the hearing room here -- and a good example is issues day, we generally had the issues outlined, except there were two additional issues that particular parties wanted to add on to the list.  What our legal staff will have to do and our case will have to do, we will have to address that particular issue for that particular intervenor.  

     Some of the issues are common to all of the intervenors.  Some are very particular to one, one intervenor versus another.  And we will have to address all of the issues of all of the intervenors.  So it becomes very difficult to estimate what would be an issue for an intervenor.  They have their own particular agenda, and they don't generally tell us in advance what their agenda is.  

     So for me to budget for 2006, or we could use 2007 rate case, if the intervenors wanted to provide me with an estimate of their costs for 2007 for all proceedings that were to happen at the OEB and live to that budget total amount, I need your budget today, because that's when we're starting to do our budgets, today.  So figure out your estimates of time and that becomes an issue.  

     So I don't believe that intervenors can forecast that far out.  I certainly can't forecast that out.  I think, as Madam Chair said today, we're having a problem just forecasting how long questions and answers take on a daily basis.  So it is very hard to predict what would be a particular issue of anyone.  

So it is a fair and equitable way to have a variance account.  Put a budget out, and if we don't spend that total amount, then there will be a credit back to ratepayers.  And if there is an amount larger than that, it will be a debit to ratepayers.  

     What we also have to remember is this whole process is for the ratepayers.  This is a substitute for competition, so this whole process is for their benefit and their benefit only.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is their cost to, isn’t it. 

     MR. HOEY:  That's right.  But it is fully at their benefit. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true one of the effects of having a variance account for your regulatory costs for the Ontario hearing costs is that if you wish to take a very aggressive approach in a rate case, ask for a lot and insist on it, if you want to do that -- I'm not saying you have, I'm saying if you want to, it doesn't cost your shareholder a dime, does it?  Ratepayers pay for it.  

     MR. HOEY:  Well, I guess the underlying assumption that I have there is that for some -- the underlying insinuation I get out of that is that somehow the company is either padding its budget and doing things that it would otherwise would never do of no value to the ratepayers, and I just totally disagree with that insinuation.  So the evidence we're bringing forward is on programs and costs and attaching new customers and reinforcing pipeline that we believe we’d have to do to operate the company effectively. 

If it's not a 2 percent increase, then that may happen from time to time, and that's the way it goes.  But we put in what we believe is our best estimate of what it is going to cost us to operate the company effectively and serve customers for the test year period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have just one more question.  It's true that your regulatory budget for 2004 ‑‑ for 2003 was $6.6 million; right?


MR. HOEY:  Where are you getting that number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Same place, I, 5, 23.


MR. HOEY:  Okay.  My regulatory affair budget was ‑‑ did you say five-point-something?


MR. SHEPHERD:  2003, regulatory affairs, Board‑approved amount, 6.6 million.  Yes?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  I thought you had said five-point-something, so...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wish.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you add 1.9 percent, you would get 6.72 million; right?


MR. HOEY:  If I add what?


MR. SHEPHERD:  1.9 percent to get to the 2004 number, that would be 6.72 million; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  But also it shows there that we actually spent 7.2 million, so I don't understand the reason for adding 1.9 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is actually interesting, because 2004 is the year you didn't have a full rate case, right, but you still managed to spend a whole lot of money?


MR. HOEY:  We were talking about 2003?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. HOEY:  Weren't we talking about 2003?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Then we're indexing to 2004; right?


MR. HOEY:  And I was saying the actuals for 2003 were 7.2 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And then in 2004, if you go from 6.6, what you were authorized to spend, the fact that you overspent is a separate issue; right?  What you were authorized to spend was 6.6 million, and then 2004 would be 6.72 million, right, 1.9 percent more?


MR. HOEY:  Well, again, we're having this problem that there was no Board‑approved budget level, and so, yes, 6.6 times 1.9 percent equals the number you just said.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you deduct the 3.9 million of OEB costs for 2004, you get a net budget of 2.9 million?


MR. HOEY:  Well, I don't know what the OEB costs were in 2003, so it's ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but we do know what they were in 2004, don't we?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  And I actually know we spent 7.4 million in 2004.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are all of my questions, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  I would like to proceed through and finish.  So if that is all right with the witness panel, Mr. Dingwall, would you go ahead?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with your leave, I will take my leave.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Shepherd.  Have a good weekend.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, the panel has implored me to ask for a quick five‑minute break.


MS. NOWINA:  Five‑minute break.  I'm sure others will appreciate that.  We will come back at 15 minutes past.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:08 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:15 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Go ahead, Mr. Dingwall.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here in the capacity of counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  


I will begin by addressing some questions to Mr. Boyce, first of all, though, mentioning my respect for any lawyer who has the guts to actually sit on a witness panel and answer questions.  


MR. BOYCE:  Thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Boyce, just to follow up on some questions that came from Mr. Shepherd, does your salary form part of your department budget?


MR. BOYCE:  No.  My salary is part of the legal, regulatory and public affairs budget, which is at A6, 7, 1.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it's part of the larger department budget, not the legal budget?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct, the same one that Mr. Hoey was speaking to when Mr. Shepherd was asking that question.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that's for the same reason, that it ‑‑


MR. BOYCE:  Control issue, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  So out of the budget, then, for the law department, how many lawyers does that cover?


MR. BOYCE:  That covers five lawyers, so the department has six lawyers in total, including me, my salary coming out of a different budget.  That leaves five lawyers' salaries coming out of the law and corporate security budget.


MR. DINGWALL:  And I take it that also includes the costs for some support staff?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  We currently have five support staff supporting the legal function specifically.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I understand, from previous evidence you provided in this case, that you're the individual within the law department who is managing the manufactured gas plant litigation; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  I am responsible for managing the work of outside counsel on that litigation, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And is your time with respect to that file recorded in the deferral account, or is that within the general regulatory budget?


MR. BOYCE:  It's within the general legal and regulatory budget.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Also, I understand from today's evidence that you're corporate secretary for Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  That is correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And am I correct that Enbridge Gas Distribution is a reporting issuer, meaning a public company?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it is.


MR. DINGWALL:  And they must make constant and detailed filings, which involve certifications from both the chief executive officer, as well as the chief financial officer?


MR. BOYCE:  With respect to our or EGD's quarterly and annual financial statements, that is correct, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now you, Mr. Boyce, report to Mr. Neiles?


MR. BOYCE:  That is correct, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And Mr. Neiles, in return, reports to Mr. Schultz; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it is.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Just an observation.  If your style of responding to questions and the brevity thereof were passed on as a service to other panels, we could shorten this hearing substantially.


In looking at questions ‑‑


MR. BOYCE:  If the questions were as simple, maybe we could do that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to the corporate secretary function, is that something that you solely do, or are there other lawyers within the legal department who assist you in that?


MR. BOYCE:  There is one lawyer in the department who assists me with that function.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that's not all of that lawyer's time, is it?


MR. BOYCE:  No, it is not.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, has EGD had to make any filings as a result of material changes or any other matters which substantially stem from EI's actions?


MR. BOYCE:  Not since I've assumed this role, no, it hasn't.


MR. DINGWALL:  You've had this role for the past four years.


MR. BOYCE:  Four years, a little over four years.


MR. DINGWALL:  You've been with the company 13 years?


MR. BOYCE:  A little over 12 years.


MR. DINGWALL:  One thing I couldn't quite comprehend is -- I will come back to this in a minute.  


I understand that some of the costs of the law department are also allocated to certain affiliate companies; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  We bill for time spent on work performed for certain affiliates, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Including Gazifère and the pipeline company that is just south of Ontario?


MR. BOYCE:  Niagara Gas Transmission, Gazifère, those are two of the main ones, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  What is the fashion in which you ‑‑ let me ask it more generally.


How do you assess what you bill to those companies and how do you track it?


MR. BOYCE:  We keep detailed docket‑type records of time spent doing work for those affiliates.  The time is charged pursuant to service agreements we have with them, and those affiliates are issued bills, much like an external law firm would issue a bill.  


MR. DINGWALL:  So are there then hourly rates that are available for specific individuals within EGD that are charged out to the affiliate companies?


MR. BOYCE:  Sorry, I think I missed the beginning of the question.


MR. DINGWALL:  Are there then hourly rates ‑‑


MR. BOYCE:  Are there hourly rates?  Yes, there are.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an example of what some of those hourly rates are and what they include?


MR. BOYCE:  Certainly.  For example, I believe my time is charged out at $225 an hour, and I would be -- as the most senior lawyer in the department, my rate would be the highest.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, as I understand it, Gazifère is a regulated entity and that is one of the companies to which you charge out your time; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  That is correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And was your time ‑‑ I think we heard some evidence from Mr. Pienaar, in a general fashion, but from that evidence I wasn't left with a clear impression as to which costs of the company had been addressed for cost allocation purposes by way of studies that were put before the Quebec regulators.


Do you know if the legal costs were included in any study?


MR. BOYCE:  I do not know if my costs were a part of any study given to the Quebec regulator, no.  As I said previously, my time is billed out on a straight hourly rate and Gazifere pays on that basis.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to matters that are involving EGD, do members of your department track their time with the same amount of detail and dockets?  

     MR. BOYCE:  We track time.  We keep detailed dockets, but for different purposes as it relates to EGD work.  

     I like to see how my lawyers or the lawyers in my department are spending their time.  I like to know what kinds of matters they're spending their time on.  For work allocation purposes, it helps us decide whether we're resourced properly, those kinds of things.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm looking at A6, tab 7, schedule 2, paragraphs 3 and 4.  In those categories there are a number of service types and areas of law designated.  Are those, by any chance, the areas under which you would be identifying where people might docket their time?  

     MR. BOYCE:  We tend to do it a little bit more specifically when we're preparing the dockets.  We will know if they are tracking to a specific file, which is generally what they do, what area of the law that file would relate to.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  For example, in respect of corporate
secretary functions, would that be one area where there might be distinct dockets which would give us an idea of the time and the cost within EGD associated to that function?  

     MR. BOYCE:  I would docket specifically enough so that it could be determined how much corporate secretarial time I am spending for EGD, yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And that would also -- that there would also be records that would indicate how much corporate secretarial time the other lawyer that you mentioned would also be docketing for EGD?  

     MR. BOYCE:  That's the way we try to do it, yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In your dockets, is the same $225 an hour rate used to determine EGD's internal costs of its own matters?  Or is that rate specifically used for affiliates?  

     MR. BOYCE:  Specifically used for affiliates.  But in determining the rate, we do take into account the internal costs of the lawyers who are working in our department.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it it is not based simply on salary but would also have an administrative component. 

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes it does. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Would there be an overhead component as well?  

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it does.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm wondering if it's possible for you to give an indication of what the EGD cost for the corporate secretary function for its own -- for EGD would be, using that information.  

     MR. STEVENS:  If I may, before I respond on behalf of the company to this, it would be helpful for me, I think, to appreciate how this would be helpful to you, Mr. Dingwall, in assessing this case.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you very much, Mr. Stevens.  My next line of questions, upon finding out whether or not it is possible, you’ll notice the question is:  Is it possible? Not, Can you give it to me?  Is that in trying to assess what the cost of the corporate secretary function that's allocated to EGD specifically is.  And it would be interesting to see those two numbers side by side 

     MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry allocated by whom?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  By EI. 

     MR. BOYCE:  There is no specific allocation for the corporate secretarial function on its own that we receive from EI.  The corporate secretarial services are a component of the legal advice service that EGD receives from EI.  

     MR. STEVENS:  They're also a component of a couple of other baskets of services, are they not, Mr. Boyce?  

     MR. BOYCE:  I'm not sure.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let me see if I can find that reference.  I’m looking at A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 94, which describes investor services.  

     MR. HOEY:  Can we get that one more time?  Sorry.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  A6, tab 10, schedule 1. 

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Appendix 1, page 93.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Page 94, Mr. Dingwall?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  You're correct, Madam Chairman.  

     MR. BOYCE:  The corporate secretarial services that are identified in the investor services schedule are significantly different than the services that -- that certainly we perform at EGD or that are comprised in the legal advice service that I am familiar with.  

     These would relate specifically to the financing requirements, and essentially the public governance requirements of EI that, in the absence of EGD's relationship with EI, EGD would be doing these activities itself.  Instead, the EI corporate secretarial department performs these services on our behalf.  

     They aren't duplicative of the services that our department provides.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to move on to another area while I try to find the other reference I'm looking for, one of the miracles of technology.  

     Mr. Boyce you also manage external counsel, do you not?  

     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And in looking at your budget for external counsel, the other intervenor counsel have covered off that that budget does not include external counsel for the matters that are currently subject to deferral accounts, being specifically the late payment penalty charge and manufactured gas plant.  Correct?  

     MR. BOYCE:  That's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In looking at the relatively small number of your external counsel costs relative to what your budget is, it looks as if external counsel are only used by you in fairly extreme circumstances when there are no individuals within your department who are able to assist you; is that correct?  

     MR. BOYCE:  They're really two primary reasons why we need that budget, or the ability to hire external counsel, and one, as you've identified is essentially an overload situation.  Where we have work that needs to be done and all of our lawyers are working to their maximum capacity.  And in those situations we will hire external lawyers to supplement the capacity of our internal lawyers.  

     The other situation where we might need to hire external counsel is if we require advice in a particular area of the law that we don't have expertise for internally.  For example, we don't have a real estate lawyer internal to the company right now, and we do have a land department that has its own budget for external legals.  But there are situations where we might need some real estate advice for work that we're doing.  Environmental law might be another area, we don't have any environmental experts internally.  
So those are really the two reasons why we need that budget.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So it appears that for the functions that you have identified in your evidence pre-filed, you don't need a lot of outside help.  It's only when you get to areas that are outside of those, and you’ve mentioned two specific areas, where you would call upon external counsel; is that correct?  

     MR. BOYCE:  Well, external legal help is needed for specific projects, the legals for which may be budgeted by the departments that are pursuing those projects.  And we will work with external lawyers in that capacity, even if their bills are not being paid out of our department's budget.


MR. DINGWALL:  In terms of the filings that have been filed on behalf of EGD, I take it that your corporate secretarial department has done all of those on its own; correct?


MR. BOYCE:  The filings that are done for EGD are completed and done by our department.  The only possible exception to that would be for specific financings, such as our medium-term notes, where we would be liaising with external counsel, and, in some situations, external counsel may assist with those filings.  But that would be only for those specific financing transactions.


MR. DINGWALL:  And in looking through the SEDAR filings for the past couple of years, it is really only -- the only things you're really dealing with are your quarterly and annual financial statements and your bond financings?


MR. BOYCE:  Our medium-term note financings, that's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Medium-term note financings.


MR. BOYCE:  Plus an annual information form with its attendant salary disclosures, that would be the other main thing that we're responsible for pulling together.


MR. DINGWALL:  So in terms of EGD's corporate secretary operations, the wheel has not been re-invented recently, has it?


MR. BOYCE:  No.  I would say it's been fairly stable, certainly in the four years that I've been responsible for the department.


MR. DINGWALL:  And EGD has had no reason to -- in its medium-term bond note dealings, to call upon external resources to deal with any significant complexities; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  No, that's not correct.  We do rely substantially upon external counsel, for example, in preparing the prospectus, taking care of a lot of the drafting that goes into that.  It's a fairly complex operation that we do require securities counsel -- external securities counsel for.


MR. DINGWALL:  But that would be assumed in your $150,000 budget for the test year?


MR. BOYCE:  No.  That would be part of the budget put together, I think, by the treasury function.  That is a treasury operation, the medium-term note issuances.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it doesn't fall in your budget?


MR. BOYCE:  It does not, no.


MR. DINGWALL:  But do you still manage external counsel in that regard?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  We have direct responsibility for managing the work of the external counsel.  I would say in those cases, it's done on a joint basis with the treasury department, but we certainly directly involve ourselves in managing the work.


MR. DINGWALL:  I have noticed in this case that two of Enbridge's internal counsel, Mr. Lanni and Ms. Persad, have stepped into the role of counsel before the Board in assisting in the presentation of evidence; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  That is correct, yes. 


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that when you're looking at the deployment of your only counsel versus the deployment of external counsel, that there is some thought given to saving costs and managing the budget; correct?


MR. HOEY:  On that particular issue, Ms. Persad and Mr. Lanni, yes.  I have responsibility for the budget for the legal counsel in the rate hearing process, and that was the purpose we brought them in, was to manage the costs as best we could and reduce our -- hopefully reduce our total legal bill from what it otherwise would have been.


MR. DINGWALL:  From what I can see, there are all these resources that appear to be available from EI that can be brought to bear into any occasion.  Do you have access to EI counsel to bring in to assist you on matters?


MR. BOYCE:  Counsel is available to assist us, and I do call upon counsel at EI from time to time for specific assistance.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do they have a rate schedule and an hourly accounting system that enables you to view their usefulness in the context of your external counsel or your internal counsel for whom you have given evidence that you do have hourly rates?


MR. BOYCE:  The work that's done for us by any Enbridge Inc. lawyers is done pursuant to the services schedules that we have agreed to as part of the cost allocation process.


So, no, we do not insist upon specific hourly rates or evidence of that for the purposes you're suggesting.


MR. DINGWALL:  How, then, do you propose to manage your budget to maximize the benefit of either using folks in Calgary or folks like Mr. Stevens here?


MR. BOYCE:  We make essentially judgment calls on the kinds of work that it makes more sense to call upon.  For example, the lawyers who are resident at Enbridge Inc. understand the whole environment of Enbridge Inc., and I talked a little bit with Mr. DeRose about implementation of policies.  That's a perfect example of where it makes sense to call upon Enbridge lawyers for assistance.


I can think of a couple of other examples where we have used Enbridge pipelines lawyers for assistance with matters, such as, believe it or not, pigging arrangements where they have experience running pigs through pipelines, and we've called upon their expertise in that area to help us put together agreements with our pigging contractors.  


Those would be areas where I would call upon Enbridge lawyers, rather than one of our own lawyers or one of our law firm lawyers that we work with here in Toronto.


MR. DINGWALL:  It sounds like fairly unique and specific circumstances.  Am I reading you correctly?


MR. BOYCE:  It can be unique circumstances, but it also can be situations where we just need to bounce something off a lawyer with respect to a particular agreement, whether it is a consulting services agreement or some sort of contract services agreement where we know that they've done something similar recently.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you expect, in the future, to have the ability to give them budgets and to have some idea of what cost they will be allocating to you in the future?


MR. BOYCE:  Do I expect to be able to ask them for their budgets?  I'm sorry, is that what you're asking me?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let me ask it another way and we will see what the best way for you to give me some information would be.


We're going into what may be year 1 of the new cost allocation methodology, presuming it is going to be a living methodology to some extent, in that you will get the opportunity to feed back into it as to whether you're getting value for money and you will have to determine, from our own perspective, whether your department's needs are being met.


Are you going into this with the expectation that you will be able to get the parameters to firmly budget going forward and to gain some understanding of the value that you're getting?


MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, I think this is an area that we dealt ‑‑ that was dealt with fairly extensively with the cost allocation policy panel over two days last week, in terms of how the RCAM is going to work, how it will work going forward.  If we're going to go through it department by department, it is going to take us ages and ages, and I wonder what the utility is for that.  


The panel was put up to answer questions like that, and we hoped that we had dealt with that issue and could move on to the actual O&M cost issues now.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, it's late in the day.  I don't want to bring this panel back on Monday, if we don't have to.  Are you close to the end of your questioning?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, I have asked right then a yes or no question, not one that leads to ages and ages, and I think I have after that maybe five or six questions on another area.


MS. NOWINA:  On another area.  That's fine.


MR. BOYCE:  Well, if I understood your question correctly, Mr. Dingwall, we always review the nature and quality of services we acquire, whether it is from external law firms or from the corporate office.


And if I ever had an issue that I needed to discuss with the corporate office regarding services that we receive from them, the mechanisms I think are set up that I have the ability to do that and, if necessary, enter into further discussions about price or quality.


MR. DINGWALL:  It sounds to me, Mr. Boyce, like you are getting no information as to price.  It sound like it is all allocated.


MR. BOYCE:  Well, based on the information that I have seen, I know what the ‑‑ I know what the costs of the department at Enbridge Inc. is that delivers the services to me.  I know how much they allocate out of that cost to me.  I've got a fairly good idea of the people who are delivering that service, and I think I have a decent sense of what their internal costs are.  So I don't think it is as uncertain as perhaps you're suggesting.


MR. DINGWALL:  Looking at one area alone, it sounds like ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, is this still about the cost allocation?


MR. DINGWALL:  One final point, yes.  I will shorten the other area.


MR. STEVENS:  I thought we were at our final point two questions ago.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I agree with Mr. Stevens, Mr. Dingwall.  Please move on.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'll move on.  Ms. Boukydis, you discussed with Mr. Shepherd briefly some statistics with regard to bill inserts, I believe something along the line of 65 percent of customers reading the bill inserts.  Does that represent a decline?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  That was research that took place at the end of 2003.  With the research that we have done since that time, it is about stable.  We don't have the results in for the ‑‑ I'm sorry, we don't have the results in for the 2000 ‑‑ any research done in 2005.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Hoey and/or Ms. Boukydis, I'm trying to understand the difference between the public and regulatory departments.  Is the dividing line related to what happens in public proceedings for regulatory versus what happens in quasi lobbying efforts or behind closed doors for public affairs?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Well, public and government affairs, in terms of lobbying, I would say that in terms of our relationship building, the department that ‑‑ public and government affairs focuses on the provincial and municipal levels of government.  Mr. Hoey, I don't know whether...

     MR. HOEY:  I mean, I have some contact with the government, Ministry of Energy, but it is more limited to the OEB, and Ms. Boukydis and I coordinate if there are any issues from a regulatory point of view that the Ministry of Energy would be interested in.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Hoey, in the test year, has EGD identified any regulatory initiatives that it will be participating in in which it is not going to be either an applicant or a respondent?  I'm thinking going beyond all of the generic initiatives related specifically to gas or gas electricity interface.


Are you looking at intervening in other people's cases?


MR. HOEY:  As a rule, we intervene in almost every case in the OEB, one, to get a record, understand what is going on.  For the majority of the time, it's been more or less a monitoring kind of function, but given the ‑‑ what I've seen in the last year or so is the melding of electricity regulation and gas regulation.  We're paying attention a little bit more to what is going on on the electricity side than we would have previously done prior to a couple of years ago, but that's generally it.  


So we would always intervene in a Union Gas case, but generally it's on a monitoring basis unless there is a particular issue that we are interested in and have concerns about.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you have any idea whether or not EI has any intention of intervening in cases in Ontario that may be more focussed on its specific interest?


MR. HOEY:  I haven't talked to anyone at EI about any particular interventions on any particular cases, at all.  I don't know.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. De Vellis.


MR. DE VELLIS:  I'll be very brief, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DE VELLIS:


MR. DE VELLIS:  Ms. Boukydis, you were speaking with Mr. Shepherd earlier about the increase in the customer communications budget, possibly $700,000 from 2004 to your 2006 budget.  Do you recall that?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. DE VELLIS:  And I believe you -- you had identified certain deficiencies in your communications with customers, and you mentioned public service announcements, safety information and public bill inserts.


Can you turn to Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  At paragraph 4 on page 2.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I'm sorry, would you say that again, please?


MR. DE VELLIS:  Yes.  Paragraph 4 on page 2, the third sentence in reads:   

"The effectiveness of the communication in providing information and educating customers also assists in minimizing call centre volumes and related costs."


Am I correct, then, that the company sees the increase in customer communications, in part, as sort of like an investment in reducing costs in other areas?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  It wouldn't be reducing costs in ‑‑ well, I suppose we could look at that.  If there are specific issues that we have concerns that our customers might be concerned about, such as gas prices, that there is ‑‑ there has always been a thought that if there is additional customer communications through the bill or through a public service announcement, it might decrease the call volumes.


In terms of costs, it also assists our customers so that they're not frustrated by trying to get through to a call centre if perhaps there is an issue that would increase call volumes.  So by being proactive and providing the information in another way, we're assisting our customers in that regard.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Do you have Exhibit K6.4 with you?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. DE VELLIS:  At line 3 is your customer support operation budget, and you see there from the 2005 settlement, the Board‑approved settlement was $110 million, 110.1 million?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I'm sorry, I don't believe -- you're looking at customer support operations.  That's not customer communications, I don't believe.


MR. DE VELLIS:  No, I understand.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I understand.


MR. DE VELLIS:  That would be the customer care budget.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Okay.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Which would include the call centre, for example; is that your understanding?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  And you see there, there's an increase from $110.1 million in 2005 Board‑approved to $122.3 million in the proposed budget for 2006, which is approximately a $12 million increase.


So going back to what you were saying earlier, rather than seeing a decrease in customer care costs as a result of your increase in customer communications, we're actually seeing an increase in both budgets, a substantial increase in both budgets?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  Yes, I would ‑‑


MR. HOEY:  The customer support panel is coming up very soon, Mr. De Vellis, and they can probably explain the particular increases and why the increases are there and what was the history of it, but I think, yes, we can agree that the numbers have increased.


MR. DE VELLIS:  And isn't it possible that if someone receives -- extra bill inserts would actually lead to more calls into the call centre; in other words, someone receives a bill insert and says, Hey, what's all this about, and calls the company to ask about it?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I don't think I could ‑‑ I don't think I can answer that.  I don't know whether or not there is any correlation between additional bill inserts and call volumes.


I will say that our customers have told us, through research, that they prefer to have additional communications through the bill to help them understand issues so that, therefore, they don't have to take the extra time to make another call.


So we do try to make our customer communications comprehensive, easy to read and understand, so that they can have their questions asked at one time.


MR. DE VELLIS:  But it's possible that increases in the number of bill inserts could actually lead to confusion among customers, which could result in greater numbers of calls to the call centre?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  I don't believe so.  The bill inserts ‑‑ it's in a staged approach.  We plan our bill inserts on an annual basis so we won't be feeding a number of ‑‑ like, a lot of information that is very different in the bill.  As I was explaining before to Mr. Shepherd, we have an integrated approach to our communications so that what we put in the bill, the same time we're running a public service ad or something in the media, it actually complements that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Getting back to the increase from 2004 to 2005, it's about $500,000.  Now, given that you identified certain deficiencies in your customer communications, that would account, you're saying, for the increase from 2004 to 2005?


MS. BOUKYDIS:  When I was speaking to Mr. Shepherd, I was taking the advertising costs from 2004 to 2006, $710,000.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, my question is:  How much of that increase, though, is sort of a catch-up amount between 2004, 2005, and, once that is done, those costs won't be incurred every year?  For example, once the extra bill inserts are prepared, you wouldn't necessarily have to expend resources in subsequent years to prepare them again.


MS. BOUKYDIS:  With respect to the advertising, there was a campaign that ran in 2004, 2005, and we plan one for 2006, a similar campaign using the same advertising materials.


With respect to having to change the bill inserts, that really is an ongoing way -- we have to update our communications.  It's not static.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you, those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Vellis.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  No questions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  I say with some trepidation that I have three questions, but I will be as quick as I can with them.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  These three questions, I believe they're probably all for you, Mr. Hoey, and they all flow from your discussions with Mr. Shepherd.  First, Mr. Shepherd suggested, if I understood him right, that because the company has a variance account for hearing costs, it's not at risk for putting forward whatever it likes in a rate case.


Is that a fair characterization?


MR. HOEY:  No.  I mean, the company is always at risk in what it puts forward, and the recovery of a deferral account still has to be approved.  The disposition of the deferral account has to be approved by the Board.  So there is always some risk the Board would not approve the disposition of the deferral account and that the costs weren't incurred prudently, so...

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Now, secondly, there was some discussion with Mr. Shepherd about why regulatory affairs' budget is so unpredictable, and I don't think that Mr. Shepherd took you to or discussed with you at all about the Natural Gas Forum in that context.


Could you just briefly expand upon the impact of the Natural Gas Forum on the fiscal 2006 year and how that is different from what you knew at the time of the filing in this case?


MR. HOEY:  When we were putting the budget together and putting the filing in, given we had participated in the Natural Gas Forum, we assumed there might be some proceeding that came out of it, so we adjusted the budget for that.  But, subsequently, it looks like there's six to seven proceedings that are coming out of it, and that's what we didn't anticipate.


And more proceedings means more dollars, more intervenor dollars, so the whole ‑‑ so that wasn't captured within the '06 forecast for 2006.


So if I was doing it today, I would change the number even higher than what I have, based upon what I have in terms of information today, relative to when I did the budget a year ago.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  The Board Panel doesn't have any questions, so that completes the hearing for today.  Thank you very much, witness panel.  You are released and we will resume on Monday morning at 9 o'clock.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:55 p.m.
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